

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Information Technology Resources for Precision Medicine

Nicholas L. Bertram Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Databases and Information Systems Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Nicholas L. Bertram

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Howard Schechter, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Jean Gordon, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. David Gould, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Information Technology Resources for Precision Medicine

by

Nicholas L. Bertram

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

August 2021

Abstract

Healthcare delivery organizations have an opportunity to use insights from the emerging field of precision medicine to improve the quality of patient care; however, information technology resources to fully enable precision medicine are lacking. The specific problem was that people have limited information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations given the emerging state of precision medicine. The purpose of this Delphi study was to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The research question asked how does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The resource-based view of the firm served as the conceptual framework. Data were collected in three consecutive rounds of questionnaires. Thematic analysis was performed to develop a list of information technology resources that were rated by participants in terms of importance and feasibility, which were analyzed to assess if there was consensus among the participants. Of the 159 information technology resources that were rated, 77 information technology resources were considered important and feasible. The study results could lead to positive social change at individual, organizational, and societal levels. At a societal level, the study results could give rise to positive social change by creating a shared vision of what is needed to fulfill information technology resource requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations and enable progress toward improved healthcare quality.

Information Technology Resources for Precision Medicine

by

Nicholas L. Bertram

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

August 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this work to my family with gratitude. My family has provided encouragement and inspiration throughout my academic endeavors. I would not be where I am without my family's love and support.

Acknowledgments

I thank the members of my dissertation committee for overseeing my work. More specifically, I thank Dr. Howard Schechter, Dr. Jean Gordon, and Dr. David Gould. The committee provided valuable comments that led to a stronger dissertation.

List of Tablesv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background of the Study2
Problem Statement
Literature Gap6
Purpose of the Study7
Research Questions7
Conceptual Framework
Nature of the Study9
Definitions12
Assumptions12
Scope13
Delimitations13
Limitations14
Significance of the Study15
Significance to Practice15
Significance to Theory16
Significance to Social Change17
Summary and Transition19
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Literature Search Strategy21

Table of Contents

Conceptual Framework	22
Literature Review	27
Information Delivery	35
Big Data Analytics	45
Genomic Testing	51
Summary and Conclusions	57
Chapter 3: Research Method	59
Research Design and Rationale	59
Role of the Researcher	62
Methodology	63
Participant Selection Logic	63
Instrumentation	67
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	70
Data Analysis Plan	73
Issues of Trustworthiness	75
Credibility	75
Transferability	76
Dependability	76
Confirmability	77
Ethical Procedures	77
Summary	79
Chapter 4: Results	80

Research Setting	81
Demographics	81
Data Collection	85
Data Analysis	87
Evidence of Trustworthiness	95
Credibility	
Transferability	96
Dependability	
Confirmability	
Study Results	97
Round 1	
Round 2	
Round 3	104
Summary	117
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	121
Interpretation of Findings	122
Limitations of the Study	128
Recommendations	129
Implications	130
Conclusions	134
References	135
Appendix A: Study Invitation	166

Appendix B: Eligibility Questionnaire	167
Appendix C: Round 1 Questionnaire	169
Appendix D: The Beginning Portion of Each Section in the Round 2	
Questionnaire	170
Appendix E: The Beginning Portion of Each Section in the Round 3	
Questionnaire	172
Appendix F: Round 1 Results That Were Sent to Participants	174
Appendix G: Round 2 Results That Were Sent to Participants	

List of Tables

Table 1. Participants Primary Work Setting	83
Table 2. Participants Highest Degree Earned	83
Table 3. Participants Primary Job Function	84
Table 4. Country in Which Participants Resided	85
Table 5. Data Collection Timeframes	86
Table 6. Questionnaire Completion Rates	86
Table 7. Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Advanced Clinical Decision	
Support Capabilities	89
Table 8. Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Artificial Intelligence	
Platforms	90
Table 9. Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Cloud Computing	91
Table 10. Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Data Governance and	
Stewardship	92
Table 11. Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Data Scientists	92
Table 12. Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Next Generation DNA	
Sequencing Technology	93
Table 13. Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Storage Solutions for	
Large Data Sets	93
Table 14. Round 1 Results Summary According to the Conceptual Framework	98
Table 15. Information Technology Resources Deemed Important and Feasible	
During Round 2	99

Table 16. Summary of Additional Information Technology Resources Identified	
During Round 2	104
Table 17. Information Technology Resources Deemed Important and Feasible	
During Round 3	105
Table 18. Information Technology Resources Considered to Have Undetermined	
Importance, Undetermined Feasibility, or Both	107
Table 19. Summary of Information Technology Resources Deemed Important and	
Feasible	118
Table 20. Summary of Information Technology Resources Considered to Have	
Undetermined Importance, Undetermined Feasibility, or Both	119

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In this study, I focused on information technology resources that could enable healthcare delivery organizations to improve the quality of patient care using precision medicine. Fulfilling information technology resource requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations requires careful and deliberate planning. To make sound decisions about information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations people should have information about resource importance and feasibility. The results of this study may provide information to aid people in making well-informed information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

The need for this study stems from the fact that people have limited information to use when making information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The requirements for information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations are uncertain given that precision medicine is an evolving field. Precision medicine is a field of diverse applications with an abundance of new discoveries. People need additional information to make sensible decisions about information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

This study could give rise to positive social change beyond potentially improving information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. This study included determining a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. A consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility could lead to the creation of a shared vision to meet the resource requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Meeting the information technology resource requirements for precision medicine could enable healthcare delivery organizations enhance the quality of patient care. This study may lead to positive social change.

This chapter begins with the background of the study followed by the problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions, conceptual framework, and nature of the study. Chapter 1 also includes the definitions, assumptions, scope, delimitations, and limitations of the study. This chapter concludes with the significance of the study and a summary.

Background of the Study

Healthcare delivery organizations have a tremendous opportunity to use insights from the emerging field of precision medicine to improve the quality of patient care (Starkweather et al., 2018; Weinshilboum & Wang, 2017). Precision medicine is applicable to practically every medical specialty (Weinshilboum & Wang, 2017). The field of oncology provides an example in which there are promising precision medicine advances for the prevention, diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment of cancer (Warner, Jain, et al., 2016). The potential improvement of patient care in healthcare delivery organizations using precision medicine is wide ranging.

Achieving the potential benefits of precision medicine entails utilizing diverse and complex types of healthcare data with the aid of information technology (Gligorijević et

al., 2016; Gómez-López et al., 2019). Precision medicine is transdisciplinary and involves integrating data from multiple areas such as the clinical, molecular, environmental, social, and behavioral domains (Beckmann & Lew, 2016; Prosperi et al., 2018). The use of varied types of data is consistent with the precision medicine concept that healthcare delivery improves as more health factors are measured (Vegter, 2018). As for the need of information technology, Levy et al. (2019) explained that an important driver of sustained precision medicine is information technology infrastructure including electronic health record systems and clinical decision support. Information technology aids in the use of increasing amounts of complex health data for precision medicine.

Healthcare delivery organizations are ill equipped to tackle numerous challenges associated with using information technology for precision medicine. The information technology challenges related to precision medicine are varied and include hardware, software, interoperability, integration, implementation, standardization, and human resource issues (Hulsen et al., 2019; Klein et al., 2017). Storing, processing, and interpreting large amounts of diverse precision medicine data requires considerable computational infrastructures that are typically not found in healthcare delivery organizations (Gómez-López et al., 2019; Pritchard et al., 2017). Information specialists need skills that span multiple disciplines and reports indicate that there is a shortage of workers with the skills necessary to implement precision medicine (Gómez-López et al., 2019; Hulsen et al., 2019). Healthcare delivery organizations have many information technology obstacles to overcome regarding precision medicine. In this study, I addressed a gap in the literature of which there is not a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. It is unsurprising that the literature does not contain an established consensus given that the field of precision medicine is evolving. Information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations is still open for debate in the literature. My intention with this study was to add to the debate by providing a new viewpoint.

The need for this study extends beyond there being a gap in the literature. An important reason I conducted this study is that people have incomplete information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Information technology resource requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations are undetermined considering that the field of precision medicine is emerging. There are a wealth of new discoveries and a variety of applications in the field of precision medicine. The need for this study stems from the fact that people have limited information to use when making information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, which is evident by there being a gap in the literature.

Problem Statement

Millions of opportunities are missed each year to use precision medicine to prevent patient harm (Caraballo, Bielinski, et al., 2017). The drug warfarin provides an example of evidence indicating that it is possible to prevent patient harm using precision medicine (Chan et al., 2016). Warfarin is a noteworthy example considering that in 1 year at least 2,000,000 people in the United States begin warfarin treatment and up to 20% of them may be hospitalized due to patient harm (Alessandrini et al., 2016). The general management problem was that healthcare delivery organizations underutilize information technology resources for precision medicine which can lead to adverse effects on the quality of patient care (Caraballo, Bielinski, et al., 2017). Information technology resources lacking vital characteristics may exacerbate the problem. For instance, several reports suggest that commercially available information technology products are not mature in terms of meeting the requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations (Hoffman et al., 2016; Warner, Rioth, et al., 2016). Additionally, reports indicate there is a shortage of information specialists with the skills necessary to implement precision medicine (Gómez-López et al., 2019; Hulsen et al., 2019).

Billions of dollars are being invested in precision medicine globally (Feero, 2017; Ginsburg & Phillips, 2018). Healthcare delivery organizations require the appropriate information technology resources to take full advantage of the substantial investments in precision medicine. The specific management problem was that people have limited information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations given the emerging state of precision medicine. Support for there being limited information is that the literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. In addition to a gap in the literature, reports suggest that healthcare delivery organizations have made ill-informed decisions regarding potential information technology resource requirements for precision medicine. For instance, Caraballo, Hodge, et al. (2017) explained that the longevity of early precision medicine information technology implementations is questionable due to scalability concerns. Additionally, several reports indicate that data storage approaches used in early precision medicine implementations may be insufficient for the long term (Danahey et al., 2017; Hicks, Dunnenberger, et al., 2016).

Literature Gap

A noteworthy gap in knowledge exists in that the literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The lack of agreement is apparent when considering multiple views present in the literature. For example, Gómez-López et al. (2019) discussed that a type of information specialist known as a clinical bioinformatician is required to effectively implement precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, but clinical bioinformaticians are rare. Caraballo, Hodge, et al. (2017) explained that commercial electronic health record systems and clinical decision support are essential to implement a type of precision medicine in a clinical setting, but the systems may not handle near future increases in data. Danahey et al. (2017) discussed that having the capability to integrate multiple data sources was essential to implement a form precision medicine at a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization, but the implementation involved custom building a sophisticated software system using several specialty resources. The literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this classical Delphi study was to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Determining a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility may help address the problem of people having limited information when making information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The information gathered from the participants could help make future information technology resource requirements less unclear. This Delphi study could provide information that aids people in making sound information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare.

Research Questions

Overarching research question: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

Subquestion 1: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

Subquestion 2: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

Conceptual Framework

I used the resource-based view of the firm as the conceptual lens for this study and is further described in Chapter 2. According to Lockett et al. (2008), the work of Wernerfelt (1984) is the seminal article regarding the resource-based view of the firm. Wernerfelt (1984) explained that a central concept in a resource-based view is company resources, which include any tangible or intangible company assets. Resources can be classified as physical resources, human resources, or organizational resources (Barney, 1991). I included each of the three resource categories in this study. Equipment, a person's intelligence, and a company's reporting structure are examples of a physical resource, human resource, and organizational resource, respectively (Barney, 1991). I centered this study around the concept of company resources.

In a resource-based view, the concept of an organizational capability is a special type of organizational resource that has distinctive features (Grant, 1991; Makadok, 2001). The main purpose of an organizational capability is to make other resources more productive (Amit & Schoemaker, 1993; Makadok, 2001). An organizational capability is built internally and embedded within a company (Amit & Schoemaker, 1993; Grant, 1991). I distinguish organizational capabilities from other types of resources in this study. According to Makadok (2001), an example of an organizational capability is the internal development of Walmart's logistics system which improves the productivity of other resources including real estate, trucks, personnel, and technology. The features of an organizational capability distinguish it from other types of resources.

Organizational capabilities and other types of resources are often discussed in the literature as being associated with the concept of economic rents (Grant, 1991; Makadok, 2001). The concept of economic rents refers to potential above normal earnings that are sustained (Conner, 1991). In a resource-based view, the term economic rents is used interchangeably with the term competitive advantage (Barney, 2001). This study included assessing information technology resource importance as a proxy for the concept of economic rents.

In theory, certain resource characteristics are more likely than others to result in economic rents (Amit & Schoemaker, 1993; Conner, 1991). Ideal resources have the characteristics of being valuable and rare, and cannot be perfectly imitated or substituted (Barney, 1991). This study included assessing information technology resource importance as a substitute for the resource characteristic of being valuable. In addition, this study involved assessing information technology resource feasibility which represents the inverse of three resource characteristics that are being rare, imperfectly imitable, and nonsubstitutable. Information technology resource importance and feasibility are key features of the research questions. This study entailed assessing information technology resource importance and feasibility are key features of the research questions. This study entailed assessing information technology resource importance and feasibility to represent resource characteristics associated with economic rents.

Nature of the Study

I selected the qualitative research method for this study based on its being well suited to address the research questions. According to Williams (2007), a researcher selects the research method according to the type of data most appropriate for responding to the research questions. Williams (2007) also mentioned that researchers can use a qualitative method to understand details in situations that are complex. Similarly, Ravitch and Carl (2016) explained that qualitative research is descriptive and fitting when pursuing complexity. Additionally, Woods et al. (2016) discussed that qualitative research combines knowledge and understanding to make judgements regarding circumstances. Addressing the research questions involved gathering assessment information from knowledgeable people regarding a complex topic, which made a qualitative method suitable for this study.

When considering the literature, a Delphi design was appropriate for this study given that addressing the research questions involved assessing importance and feasibility information regarding a complex topic that is evolving and has many unknowns. According to Rikkonen and Tapio (2009), a Delphi design is appropriate for topics in which changes in trends are probable. Additionally, Delbecq et al. (1975) and Linstone and Turoff (2002) concurred that a Delphi design is fitting when there is incomplete information regarding a situation. Furthermore, Linstone and Turoff (2002) offered the view that a Delphi design allows a group of people to jointly address a complex problem and is useful to assess the importance and feasibility of options. Linstone and Turoff (2002) also explained that the need for a Delphi design can result from certain characteristics, including when exact analytics are not suitable for working on a problem or when the participants needed to examine a complex problem have not had prior communication. In addition, Delbecq et al. (1975) discussed that a Delphi design can be useful for planning activities regarding information technology. A Delphi design was

well suited for this study in that addressing the research questions involved assessing importance and feasibility information regarding a complex topic that is evolving and has many unknowns.

I used nonprobability purposive sampling and supplemented it with snowball sampling to form a sample. The criteria to participate in the study were that an individual: (a) could describe cases illustrating good versus poor decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, (b) had a minimum of 3 years of professional experience dealing with information technology for precision medicine in healthcare delivery, (c) could write fluently in English, (d) did not have a personal or professional relationship with me, and (e) was at least 18 years old. Sampling provided the means to identify a group of specialists that met certain criteria.

I performed data collection and analysis in three consecutive rounds. I used open-ended questions to make the Round 1 questionnaire. I analyzed text data collected during Round 1 using thematic analysis. I structured the Round 2 questionnaire so that participants could rate the importance and feasibility of information technology resources identified in Round 1 as well as optionally provide additional information technology resources. I analyzed importance and feasibility ratings collected during Round 2 to assess the level of agreement among the participants. I performed thematic analysis on any additional information technology resources collected during Round 2. The structure of the Round 3 questionnaire allowed participants to rate the importance and feasibility of additional information technology resources identified during Round 2 as well as rerate the importance and feasibility of information technology resources from Round 2 that did not have consensus of importance, feasibility, or both. Similar to the data analysis for Round 2, I analyzed importance and feasibility ratings collected during Round 3 to assess the level of agreement among the participants. I performed three consecutive rounds of data collection and analysis.

Definitions

Big data: A large amount of diverse information (Auffray et al., 2016).

Clinical decision support: Computer software aimed at affecting the decisions clinicians make about patients (Miller et al., 2015).

Electronic health record system: A computerized information resource for healthcare workers regarding patients (Smolij & Dun, 2006).

Information technology: The use of computers to store, transfer, and process data (Ekwonwune et al., 2017).

Precision medicine: The use of assorted data to enhance the accuracy of healthcare (König et al., 2017).

Assumptions

I made several assumptions for this study that are attributable to the qualitative Delphi study design and extensive use of literature. The first assumption was that I would address the research questions in an objective manner by identifying concepts in the collected data and by assessing the concepts according to the level of agreement among the participants. The second assumption was that the data collected from the sample participants represent the views of the larger population of experts knowledgeable about information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The third assumption was that participant responses to the questionnaires represent reality. The fourth assumption was that participants could clearly articulate their views in writing when completing questionnaires. The fifth assumption was that information found in the literature was accurate. The assumptions that I made for this study were necessary given the qualitative Delphi study design and reliance on the literature.

Scope

In this study, I addressed the problem of people having limited information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations given the emerging state of precision medicine. More specifically, the purpose of this classical Delphi study was to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. I chose the specific focus based on how the study could enhance practice, theory, and positive social change as discussed below.

Delimitations

The delimitations should be taken into account when considering transferability of the study to other contexts. One delimitation was that the sample only included individuals that could write fluently in English. Therefore, I excluded people not able to write fluently in English. Another delimitation was that the resource-based view of the firm served as the conceptual framework. Hence, I centered the study around the concept of company resources. I reviewed but did not select other conceptual frameworks because the other frameworks were not well aligned with the purpose of this study. For instance, I considered but did not select the strategic alignment model described by Henderson and Venkatraman (1999) due to poor alignment with the study purpose. The boundaries of the study should be considered when assessing the transferability of this study to other contexts.

Limitations

A limitation was that this study was subject to self-selection bias in that the sample was composed of specialists who chose to participate. Knowledgeable experts may have opted not to participate in the study due to time constraints, indifference to the study, or insufficient compensation. In addition to offering a modest monetary gift, I partially addressed the first limitation by using questionnaires that did not require a substantial amount of time to complete.

Another limitation was that I used a cross-sectional design rather than a longitudinal design. A cross-sectional investigation is useful to analyze data for a specific point in time (Babbie, 2017) and does not provide information on how time may be an influence (Caruana et al., 2015). An example of the cross-sectional design limitation is that, according to McCoy (2017) and Vogl et al. (2018), research participants' perspectives may change over time. I partially addressed the second limitation by using a process to form consensus among the study participants. A consensus approach may have created a balanced perspective and incorporated persisting elements regarding the research questions.

A third limitation was that most participants stated they reside in the United States. There are many differences in healthcare systems of other countries when compared to healthcare in the United States. (Toth, 2016). The generalizability of the study to countries not represented in the sample is unknown. Considering differences in healthcare systems across different countries was beyond the scope of this study.

Significance of the Study

This study could contribute to practice, theory, and positive social change. Possible benefits of this study could advance practice in terms of strategic planning, prioritizing investment options, and assessing opportunities regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. This study could lead to developments in theory regarding concepts of information technology resource planning, conceptual models regarding the evolution of information technology resources, and how the dynamics of information technology resources affect society. The study results could lead to positive social change in terms of enabling progress toward improved healthcare quality, informing information technology resource decisions, and advancing the intellect of people. This study could lead to advances in practice, theory, and positive social change.

Significance to Practice

The study results could contribute to improvements in practice. The results could aid people in making strategic planning decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Additionally, the study results could be insightful to people when prioritizing resource investment options. Furthermore, the results could be useful to people when assessing opportunities to create new information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. This study could lead to improvements in practice in multiple ways.

The study results could enable practitioners to be more efficient. Practitioners could save time by using the list of information technology resources as a checklist of resources to consider when making decisions regarding precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Additionally, the list of information technology resources could be used by practitioners to consider information technology resources in an organized and more complete way. Furthermore, the list of information technology resources could be used by practitioners as a delegation aid when assigning tasks. There are multiple ways in which the study results could enable practitioners to be more efficient.

Significance to Theory

The study results could accelerate developments in theory. Given the emerging state of the field of precision medicine, the results could provide a new perspective to advance concepts associated with information technology resource planning when future circumstances are unclear. Additionally, having determined information technology resource importance and feasibility, the study results could inform conceptual models concerning the evolution of information technology resources for precision medicine. Furthermore, the results could lead to a better understanding of how the dynamics of information technology resources for precision medicine. The study results could contribute to different types of advancements in theory.

Significance to Social Change

At a societal level, the study results could give rise to positive social change by enabling progress toward improved healthcare quality using information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Information technology resources for precision medicine are underutilized, which can lead to adverse effects on the quality of healthcare (Caraballo, Bielinski, et al., 2017). Having created a list of information technology resources considered important and feasible, the study results could create a shared vision of what is needed to fulfill information technology resource requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Creating a shared vision could lead to improved utilization of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations as well as improved healthcare quality. The study results could prompt positive social change at a societal level by enabling progress toward improved healthcare quality.

In addition to positive social change at a societal level, the study results could lead to positive social change at an organizational level by informing information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. For instance, reports indicate there is a shortage of information specialists with the skills necessary to implement precision medicine (Gómez-López et al., 2019; Hulsen et al., 2019). Positive social change could result by educational organizations considering the study results when making decisions about enhanced curricula targeted at people who function as human information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Enhanced curricula may help alleviate the shortage of information specialists. As another example, multiple reports suggest that commercially available information technology products are not mature in terms of meeting the requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations (Hoffman et al., 2016; Warner, Rioth, et al., 2016). Positive social change could result by commercial vendors considering the study results when making decisions about the creation of new physical information technology resources that would meet the requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. As a third example, reports indicate that data storage approaches used in early precision medicine implementations may be insufficient for the long term (Danahey et al., 2017; Hicks, Dunnenberger, et al., 2016). Positive social change could result by healthcare delivery organizations considering the study results when making decisions about the creation of adaptable data storage solutions for precision medicine. Adaptability could help increase the longevity of data storage solutions. The study results could lead to positive social change by informing decisions made by organizations regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Besides positive social change at organizational and societal levels, the study results may lead to positive social change at an individual level by advancing the intellect of people. I conducted this study in part because the literature did not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Given that this study addresses a literature gap, individuals that read this dissertation may benefit intellectually. The study results may lead to positive social level change at an individual level.

Summary and Transition

In sum, this study focused on information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Information technology resources are a vital component for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Given that precision medicine is an evolving field, information technology resource requirements are undetermined for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. People have incomplete information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. This study could provide information that aids people in making sound information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. This study could advance practice in multiple ways. In addition, this study could accelerate different types of theoretical advancements. Focusing on information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations could benefit society.

Knowledge is advanced by building upon what is already known (Xiao & Watson, 2019). Chapter 2 contains a synthesis of literature relevant to this study. The discussion presented in Chapter 2 provides a foundation of knowledge for this study to build upon.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The general management problem addressed in this study was that healthcare delivery organizations underutilize information technology resources for precision medicine which can lead to adverse effects on the quality of patient care (Caraballo, Bielinski, et al., 2017). The specific management problem addressed was that people have limited information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations given the emerging state of precision medicine. Support for there being limited information is that the literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The purpose of this classical Delphi study was to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

The synthesis of literature presented in Chapter 2 provides a base of knowledge for this study to build upon. I performed a thorough literature search and described the method used in the literature search strategy section of this chapter. The conceptual framework section includes a detailed review of the resource-based view of the firm as it applies to this study. The literature review section includes an extensive review of numerous topics relevant to this study beginning with a conceptual discussion of precision medicine. The summary and conclusions section includes a synopsis of the literature reviewed.

Literature Search Strategy

I completed the literature search in an iterative manner. I performed initial searches using broad keyword search terms, which I subsequently refined to focus on more specific topics. I applied date filters to concentrate on contemporary literature. I considered peer reviewed journal articles published within the past 5 years as a desirable category of literature. I assessed the titles of literature returned in search results to determine if the literature may be applicable to this study. I examined the full text of literature in cases where I deemed the titles to be relevant to this study. I reviewed the reference sections of literature relevant to this study to identify additional sources that may not have appeared in search results. I used an iterative approach to search the literature.

I performed the literature search using several online resources and keyword search terms. I searched the literature using Google Scholar and several online databases available through the Walden University library. The online databases included ABI/INFORM Collection, Academic Search Complete, Business Source Complete, Computers and Applied Sciences Complete, Emerald Insight, IEEE Xplore, ProQuest, PubMed, SAGE Journals, and ScienceDirect. The keyword search terms included: *big data analytics capability, big data analytics healthcare, big data analytics value, clinical decision support, Delphi, genomics clinical decision support, genomics electronic health record, genomics technology, information technology Delphi, information technology resources, personalized medicine, pharmacogenetics clinical decision support, pharmacogenetics electronic health record, pharmacogenetics technology*, pharmacogenomics clinical decision support, pharmacogenomics electronic health record, pharmacogenomics technology, precision medicine, precision medicine adverse drug reactions, precision medicine big data, precision medicine clinical decision support, precision medicine electronic health record, precision medicine genomics, precision medicine omics, precision medicine quality, precision medicine safety, precision medicine technology, resource based view, resource based view Delphi, resource based view technology, and stratified medicine. I used several online resources and keyword search terms to complete the literature search.

Conceptual Framework

The resource-based view of the firm grounds this study conceptually. A resource-based view focuses on internal company characteristics as opposed to external industry factors (Amit & Schoemaker, 1993; Barney, 1991). Company resources are a central concept in a resource-based view of the firm and include any tangible or intangible company assets (Wernerfelt, 1984). In a resource-based view, a company can be considered as a bundle of resources (Conner, 1991; Wernerfelt, 1984). In theory, the way a company combines resources affects the company performance (Amit & Schoemaker, 1993; Conner, 1991). Managers are tasked with renewing resources and relationships among resources (Conner, 1991). I have centered this study around the concept of company resources.

Differentiating types of resources helps bring clarity to the wide array of resources companies have. Resources can be categorized as physical resources, human resources, or organizational resources (Barney, 1991). In the context of information technology, physical resources are things used as part of an overall information technology infrastructure (Bharadwaj, 2000). Examples of physical information technology resources include computers, digital networks, software, and electronic data (Aral & Weill, 2007; Bharadwaj, 2000). Human resources, in the context of information technology, are the technical and managerial skills and knowledge of people (Bharadwaj, 2000). Examples of human information technology resources include technical and managerial competencies in information systems analysis and design, software programming, and emerging technology (Bharadwaj, 2000). Organizational resources are managerial focused and used to affect how people interact (Diin et al., 2018). Examples of organizational resources include methods of reporting, planning, coordinating, and controlling (Barney, 1991). This study included distinguishing resource categories to help bring clarity to the assortment of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

A special type of organizational resource is an organizational capability (Makadok, 2001). The concept of an organizational capability is the ability to perform an activity using multiple resources (Grant, 1991). The main purpose of an organizational capability is to make other resources more productive (Makadok, 2001). An organizational capability is built internally and embedded within a company (Grant, 1991; Makadok, 2001). The development of an organizational capability occurs gradually through experience and typically involves information-based processes (Amit & Schoemaker, 1993; Grant, 1991). Given that organizational capabilities are a special type
of organizational resource, I distinguished them from other types of resources in this study.

In the context of information technology, organizational capabilities may exist in multiple areas (Wade & Hulland, 2004). Three examples of information technology capability areas are integrating information technology with the business, designing information technology architecture, and delivering information technology services (Wade & Hulland, 2004). In a discussion of information technology resource characteristics Bharadwaj (2000) provided an example of a company that had information technology capabilities in multiple areas. First, Bharadwaj (2000) explained that the company's information technology personnel are able to envision the business benefits of creating a new application, which denotes the capability area of integrating information technology with the business. Second, Bharadwaj (2000) discussed the flexibility of the company's information technology infrastructure, which denotes the capability area of designing information technology architecture. Third, Bharadwaj (2000) explained that a new information technology application for the company could be delivered in a short time frame, which denotes the capability area of delivering information technology services. Organizational capabilities regarding information technology can exist in multiple areas.

Information technology capabilities and other types of information technology resources may be associated with the concept of economic rents (Bharadwaj, 2000; Wade & Hulland, 2004). The concept of economic rents refers to potential above normal earnings that are sustained (Conner, 1991). In a resource-based view, the term economic rents is used interchangeably with the term competitive advantage (Barney, 2001). This study included assessing information technology resource importance as a proxy for the concept of economic rents.

In theory, resources that are valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable, and nonsubstitutable are potential sources of economic rents (Barney, 1991). This study included assessing information technology resource importance as a substitute for the characteristic of being valuable. This study also included assessing information technology resource feasibility which represents the inverse of three resource characteristics that are being rare, imperfectly imitable, and nonsubstitutable. This study included assessing information technology resource importance and feasibility to represent resource characteristics associated with economic rents.

According to Mata et al. (1995), managerial information technology skills are an example of a resource that is a possible source of economic rents. The resource characteristic of being valuable can be recognized in the article by Mata et al. (1995) when the authors discussed that managerial information technology skills, such as the ability to understand a company's business needs, are valuable in achieving the full benefits of information technology. The resource characteristic of being rare can be recognized in the article by Mata et al. (1995) when the authors discussed that developing managerial information technology skills depends on close relationships that may be rare between information technology personnel and personnel working in other areas of a company. The resource characteristic of being imperfectly imitable can be recognized in the article by Mata et al. (1995) when the authors discussed that tacit managerial information technology personnel and personnel working in other areas of a company. The resource characteristic of being imperfectly imitable can be recognized in the article by Mata et al. (1995) when the authors discussed that tacit managerial information technology personnel and personnel working in other areas of a company. The resource characteristic of being imperfectly imitable can be recognized in

information technology skills that cannot be codified may involve countless decisions that are imperfectly imitable. The resource characteristic of being nonsubstitutable can be recognized in the article by Mata et al. (1995) when the authors discussed that managerial information technology skills may be nonsubstitutable when they are immobile and embedded within a company. Managerial information technology skills provide an example of a resource that is a potential source of economic rents.

Some resources may become a source of economic rents when combined with other resources. Barney (1991) discussed physical technology resources as an example of resources that are not usually a source of economic rents. Physical technology resources are generally imitable (Barney, 1991). Physical technology resources may become a source of economic rents when combined with socially complex resources that are valuable, rare, imperfectly imitable, and nonsubstitutable (Barney, 1991). The combination of physical technology resources and socially complex resources may allow a company to more fully exploit physical technology resources (Barney, 1991). Combining resources may create a source of economic rents.

In sum, I centered this study around the concept of company resources. This study included distinguishing between physical, human, and organizational resources. Given that organizational capabilities are a special type of organizational resource, I distinguished them from other types of resources in this study. This study included assessing information technology resource importance and feasibility to represent the concept of economic rents and resource characteristics associated with economic rents. The resource-based view of the firm grounded this study conceptually.

Literature Review

Precision medicine can be characterized as a paradigm shift not unlike others that have occurred in history of healthcare. According to Fernandes et al. (2017), a paradigm shift is a change in basic concepts and practices of a scientific field. In a conceptual debate of precision medicine, Vegter (2018) explained that paradigm shifts in the history of healthcare include a shift toward using technology to improve diagnostics, a shift toward using statistics to define an illness as a deviation from the norm, and a shift toward widespread access to healthcare information. Precision medicine is a shift toward using a variety of data types to continually improve the accuracy of healthcare (König et al., 2017; Vegter, 2018). In a similar view, Tebani et al. (2016) discussed that precision medicine is a shift to provide more customized and accurate healthcare by incorporating a constantly improved understanding of biology based on a variety of measurements. Additionally, Prosperi et al. (2018) explained that the precision medicine paradigm involves using detailed patient information to make more accurate predictions in care. Furthermore, according to Ginsburg and Phillips (2018), precision medicine entails a shift from treatment to the prevention of disease. Precision medicine is a paradigm shift that builds on earlier advancements in healthcare knowledge (Vegter, 2018).

The paradigm shift associated with precision medicine has led to the formation of a complex field combining a variety of sophisticated topics. Researchers have addressed several complex topics regarding the field of precision medicine. For instance, in addition to discussing the complementary relationship between reductionist and integrative approaches to studying health issues Beckmann and Lew (2016) explained that the confluence of three disruptive forces affect precision medicine. According to Beckmann and Lew (2016), the disruptive forces include revolutionary advancements in high resolution data generating technology, innovative high speed computation capacities in information science, and the expansion of patient empowerment due to social media and the use of connected electronic devices. In another case of complex topics, Huang et al. (2016) explained that collaborative efforts are needed to implement several features of precision medicine and that some factors affecting precision medicine include big data analytics, training, financial models, quality control, and regulation. Vegter (2018) added to the list of sophisticated topics associated with precision medicine when discussing the profile of precision medicine which includes epistemological, bio-political, and ethical considerations. Vegter (2018) concluded the discussion by providing the view that the profile of precision medicine is differentiated by a focus on issues associated with prediction and prevention.

As part of describing the profile of precision medicine, Vegter (2018) claimed that big data science provides an epistemological base for precision medicine. There is general agreement that data analytics is a vital component of precision medicine. After clarifying that the terms precision medicine and personalized medicine are used interchangeably, Fröhlich et al. (2018) explained that precision medicine stems from a base of data science. According to Fröhlich et al. (2018), analyzing data from multiple sources provides a better understanding of a patient and is the key to making clinically useful predictions for precision medicine. Similarly, Prosperi et al. (2018) indicated that precision medicine is based on analyzing data from a variety of sources. In addition, Vegter (2018) claimed that data mirror the truth about a person's health and that an aim of precision medicine is to analyze every quantifiable aspect.

Even though there is general agreement that data analytics is an essential component of precision medicine, the emerging focus of precision medicine efforts continues to be debated. According to Vegter (2018), the focus of precision medicine efforts is still maturing, and some believe that precision medicine research should be at the intersection of a person's biology, lifestyle, and environment. In addition, Intille (2016) explained that the details of a national precision medicine research initiative are under development but may include investigating health factors associated with genetics, sleep, and pollution. In a review of precision medicine efforts around the globe, Lee et al. (2019) added to the debate by suggesting that there is a lack of longitudinal designs in precision medicine efforts given that time is a factor when assessing changes in health. In another view, Lau and Wu (2018) suggested that the basic question for precision medicine involves understanding how peoples' genomes and life histories affect wellbeing, probability of disease, and response to treatment. In the context of oncology, Kensler et al. (2016) provided support for the idea that precision medicine has a transformative role in the prevention of disease. According to Pasipoularides (2018), a focus of precision medicine in the context of cardiology is understanding relationships between genomics and disease. In the context of psychiatry, Fernandes et al. (2017) suggested the precision medicine can aid in matters of diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis. The debate regarding the emerging focus of precision medicine efforts continues.

Considering the emerging focus of precision medicine efforts, it is not surprising that healthcare delivery organizations are in early stages of applying precision medicine. The literature contains several cases of early applications of precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations and a few of those cases are discussed here. In a case discussed by Arnall et al. (2019), as part of a newly formed precision medicine program, an academic cancer center conducted a pilot project to define the role of clinical pharmacy services for precision medicine. In another case, Fiore et al. (2016) discussed a pilot project for precision medicine and explained that a national government healthcare delivery organization demonstrated feasibility of incorporating precision medicine with clinical care in an oncology context focusing on military veterans with lung cancer. In a different case, according to Dunnenberger et al. (2016), a university affiliated health system developed a pharmacogenomics clinic and made adjustments to improve utilization after the clinic opened. In a different case, Dressler et al. (2018) explained that an integrated health system conducted a series of pilot research studies to aid in the development of an outpatient precision medicine clinic for the provision of pharmacogenomic services. Healthcare delivery organizations are in the early phases of using precision medicine.

Besides being in the early phases of using precision medicine, healthcare delivery organizations use complex and specialized resources for precision medicine. For instance, according to Nadauld et al. (2018), an academic medical center developed an in-house genomic test to analyze over 100 clinically relevant genes for precision medicine in an oncology context. Nadauld et al. (2018) also explained that the organization periodically

considers modifying the genomic test to incorporate new discoveries and uses knowledge of molecular pathology fellows to help decide when modifications to the test are warranted. In another case, according to Walko et al. (2016), a cancer center uses a specialized committee to assist in interpreting genomic information for precision medicine. Walko et al. (2016) also discussed that the committee consists of a diverse group of experts including information specialists, financial strategists, basic scientists, translational scientists, molecular pathologists, oncologists, pharmacists, nurses, and genetic counselors. Walko et al. (2016) further explained that the committee reviews a patient case by considering the findings from a full literature review and the personal, clinical, and genomic characteristics of the patient. Healthcare delivery organizations use complex and specialized resources for precision medicine.

In addition to using complex and specialized resources for precision medicine, healthcare delivery organizations use information technology to facilitate precision medicine. According to Beckmann and Lew (2016), specialized information technology facilitates the clinical use of complex multiscale and multilevel data sets for precision medicine. In addition, Danahey et al. (2017) discussed that a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization uses information technology to condense information from thousands of literature sources into summaries that healthcare workers can use as an aid when making medication prescribing decisions for precision medicine. According to Danahey et al. (2017), the information technology solution involved building a clinical decision support system to simplify the clinical practice of precision medicine. Danahey et al. (2017) also explained that the summaries are displayed with links to primary literature sources. A different case discussed by Dressler et al. (2018) is in the context of integrating clinical decision support with clinical processes for pharmacogenomics, which is a form of precision medicine. According to Dressler et al. (2018), an integrated health system uses information technology to automatically analyze multiple patient data elements and deliver patient specific advice to healthcare workers to promote patient safety regarding medications. Information technology facilitates precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Given the use of information technology for precision medicine, a noteworthy gap in knowledge exists in that the literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The lack of agreement is apparent when considering multiple views present in the literature. Here are a few examples. In one view, Gómez-López et al. (2019) discussed that a type of information specialist known as a clinical bioinformatician is required to effectively implement precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, but clinical bioinformaticians are rare. In a different view, Caraballo, Hodge, et al. (2017) explained that commercial electronic health record systems and clinical decision support are essential to implement a type of precision medicine in a clinical setting, but the systems may not handle near future increases in data. In another view, Danahey et al. (2017) discussed that having the capability to integrate multiple data sources was essential to implement a form precision medicine at a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization, but the implementation involved custom building a sophisticated software system using several specialty resources. The

literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

A Delphi design provides useful methods to address topics concerning information technology resources when knowledge is incomplete. Delbecq et al. (1975) and Linstone and Turoff (2002) agreed that a Delphi design is suitable when there is incomplete information regarding a situation. Similarly, according to Skulmoski et al. (2007), a Delphi design is appropriate when there is incomplete knowledge about a problem and a researcher seeks to enhance an understanding of solutions using the judgment of experts. In one case of using a Delphi design Duncan (1995) addressed a situation of incomplete knowledge using a Delphi questionnaire to collect data from information technology executives about the importance of information technology resource characteristics regarding infrastructure flexibility. In another case, Niederman et al. (1991) conducted a three round Delphi study with information technology executives to understand the most important information technology management issues, which consequently are most deserving of resource investment. Researchers have used Delphi methods to enhance knowledge on topics regarding information technology resources.

Researchers have used Delphi methods to examine topics regarding information technology resources for data analytics. For instance, Akter et al. (2016) conducted a two round Delphi study and used themes in the collected data to identify 11 subdimensions of a big data analytics capability, which is considered an organizational information technology resource in a resource-based view. Similarly, Ranko et al. (2015) conducted a study using Delphi methods to advance a conceptual business analytics capability framework which expert participants helped refine by providing input regarding the structure, definitions, and relative importance of components. In another study, Côrte-Real et al. (2019) used Delphi methods to identify and rank 23 company level antecedents of business value generated using big data analytics. Several of the antecedents identified by Côrte-Real et al. (2019) can be categorized as organizational information technology resources including managerial capabilities, analytical capabilities, dynamic capabilities, and an analytical decision making culture. Another antecedent that Côrte-Real et al. (2019) called big data analytics applications can be categorized as a physical information technology resource. In a different article, Vidgen et al. (2017) discussed how Delphi methods were used to identify 31 organizational challenges regarding the use of big data analytics to generate business value and to reach a consensus of how the challenges rank in terms of importance. Organizations can use the list of challenges produced by Vidgen et al. (2017) as a checklist when building a business analytics capability. Researchers have examined topics regarding information technology resources for data analytics using Delphi methods.

In sum, a discussion of the literature regarding this study provides a variety of relevant points to consider. Precision medicine is a paradigm shift that builds on earlier advancements in healthcare knowledge which has led to the formation of a complex field combining a variety of sophisticated topics. Even though there is general agreement that data analytics is an essential component of precision medicine, the emerging focus of precision medicine efforts continues to be debated. Precision medicine practices are being incorporated in healthcare delivery organizations using complex resources, specialized resources, and information technology resources. Given the prevalent use of information technology for precision medicine, a noteworthy gap in knowledge exists in that the literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Previous researchers have used Delphi methods to examine topics concerning information technology resources. There is an assortment of considerations relevant to this study.

Information Delivery

The topic of information delivery is central to healthcare delivery organizations. Information delivery is essential to clinical, administrative, and operational processes in healthcare delivery organizations. The ability of a healthcare delivery organization to save the life of a patient may depend on the speed and accuracy of information delivery. Information delivery is a common topic in reports of precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Several reports provide useful information about physical, human, and organizational forms of information technology resources used in information delivery for precision medicine. The following discussion is based on several early cases of precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations that include discussion about information technology.

One theme that stands out in the literature is that information technology enhances information delivery for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. For instance, according to Caraballo, Bielinski, et al. (2017), a multistate healthcare institution uses clinical decision support pop-up alert messages in an electronic health record system to automatically deliver sophisticated information quickly and provide advice to enable precision medicine. Similarly, Dressler et al. (2018) discussed a case in which a community health system uses pop-up alert messages in an electronic health record system to disseminate changes to patient safety policies across the organization for precision medicine. Additionally, Luzum et al. (2017) explained that the use of information technology to disseminate information for precision medicine to a widespread audience occurs in multiple healthcare delivery organizations using online sites. Healthcare delivery organizations use information technology to enhance information technology to medicine.

In addition to being enhanced using information technology, information delivery for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations is performed through multiple channels. In a study that included survey methods to collect data regarding the implementation of genomic information resources, Rasmussen et al. (2016) explained that healthcare delivery organizations use several physical forms of information technology resources to deliver information for precision medicine. The physical information technology resources provided by Rasmussen et al. (2016) included electronic health record systems, content management systems, compliance education systems, personal health records, email, and websites. Similarly, in a study that included multiple case study methods to investigate the implementation of genomics in clinical practice, Sperber et al. (2017) explained that healthcare delivery organizations deliver information for precision medicine using numerous physical forms of information technology resources. More specifically, the physical information technology resources provided by Sperber et al. (2017) included electronic health record systems, patient portals containing health information, clinical decision support, best practice alerts, data warehouses, websites, online education modules, and online newsletters. Additionally, other channels to deliver information for precision medicine include printed handouts, faxes, and hard copies delivered in the mail (Danahey et al., 2017; Warner, Jain, et al., 2016). Healthcare delivery organizations use multiple channels to deliver information for precision medicine.

Healthcare delivery organizations not only use multiple channels, but also incorporate multiple information sources in information delivery practices for precision medicine. For instance, according to Herr et al. (2019), healthcare delivery organizations obtain recommendations for precision medicine from government agencies and specialty consortiums for use in delivering pharmacogenomic information using clinical decision support. Shifting to specific cases, Manzi et al. (2017) provided an account in which a pediatric teaching hospital uses primary literature articles and specialty consortiums as sources of information to make decisions regarding the delivery of pharmacogenomic information using clinical decision support for precision medicine. Similarly, Danahey et al. (2017) explained that a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization utilizes information from government agencies, specialty consortiums, and literature articles in the delivery of syntheses of information for precision medicine. Interestingly, Mukerjee et al. (2018) addressed a noteworthy consideration when using multiple information sources by explaining that discrepancies have been identified among different information sources for precision medicine. Information delivery practices for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations include multiple information sources.

As well as using multiple information sources, healthcare delivery organizations use electronic health record systems in a vital role to deliver information for precision medicine. According to Sperber et al. (2017), electronic health record systems are foundational to delivering information in the patient care process for precision medicine. Similarly, in the context of establishing precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations Arwood et al. (2016) explained that delivering accurate and timely information for precision medicine is only feasible when using an electronic health record system. Reports of healthcare delivery organizations using electronic health record systems to deliver information for precision medicine are common. In fact, several reports describe how electronic health record systems are used to deliver pharmacogenomic information to healthcare workers (Hicks, Stowe, et al., 2016; Rosenman et al., 2017). Electronic health record systems are physical information technology resources that have a key role in information delivery for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Besides using electronic health record systems in a vital role, healthcare delivery organizations adapt electronic health record systems to deliver information for precision medicine. According to Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016), healthcare delivery organizations are required to customize the infrastructure of an electronic health record system for precision medicine. Additionally, Ohno-Machado et al. (2018) explained that healthcare delivery organizations deliver genomic information as allergies, clinical problems, and lab results depending on the implementation of the electronic health record system. Furthermore, healthcare delivery organizations deliver notifications for precision medicine within an electronic health record system using either clinical notes or inbox messages depending on the system implementation (Caraballo, Hodge, et al., 2017; Sperber et al., 2017). Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016) provided an account of using an electronic health record system to deliver pharmacogenomic information. According to Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016), the delivery of information for precision medicine at a multistate health system can be affected by the medications prescribed to a patient, the documentation of genomic information, and the reasons provided when healthcare workers acknowledge recommendations. Rasmussen et al. (2016) provided a discussion of customizing the delivery of genomic information for healthcare delivery organizations. Interestingly, according to Rasmussen et al. (2016), an area of opportunity for vendors of electronic health record systems is offering the ability to deliver information from external sources while allowing for local adaptation. Healthcare delivery organizations deliver information for precision medicine by adapting electronic health record systems.

In addition to adapting electronic health record systems, healthcare delivery organizations use information technology resources in specialized ways for information delivery due to the emerging state of precision medicine. For instance, according to Sperber et al. (2017), a university medical center uses a pharmacogenomics group to oversee the portions of patient test results considered clinically relevant, which are delivered using an electronic health record system. Sperber et al. (2017) also explained that portions of patient test results not considered clinically relevant are not stored in the electronic health record system but may later be moved into the electronic health record system if the emerging literature suggests clinical relevance. Similarly, Danahey et al.

(2017) described an account in which a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization only delivers portions of patient test results using clinical decision support that a group of people deem clinically relevant. According to Danahey et al. (2017), portions of test results not considered clinically relevant are stored in a non-production information technology environment for later consideration based on emerging literature. Because the field of precision medicine is emerging, healthcare delivery organizations deliver information for precision medicine using information technology resources in specialized ways.

The emerging literature regarding information delivery in healthcare delivery organizations for precision medicine regularly contains descriptions of the differences between passive and active forms of clinical decision support. According to Hicks et al. (2019), passive forms of clinical decision support remain in the background waiting for an end user to make a selection. In contrast to passive forms, Manzi et al. (2017) explained that active forms of clinical decision support tend to be interruptive and automatic. Delivering information to aid a healthcare worker in making a medication prescribing decision using clinical decision support provides a case that is useful to illustrate both the passive and active forms of clinical decision support. In a study of how clinical decision support impacts medication prescribing behaviors for precision medicine, O'Donnell et al. (2017) described an example of the passive form of clinical decision support in which a healthcare worker must deliberately access information used to aid in making a medication prescribing decision through a standalone web portal requiring a separate login. In contrast, Hicks et al. (2019) provided an example of an

active form of clinical decision support in which a message pops up in an electronic health record system that interrupts the workflow of a healthcare worker to aid in making medication prescribing decisions. The differences between passive and active forms of clinical decision support are regularly described in reports regarding information delivery in healthcare delivery organizations for precision medicine.

As well as using different forms of clinical decision support, healthcare delivery organizations use clinical decision support alerts in different ways to deliver information for precision medicine. According to Sperber et al. (2017), there is a lack of standard methods for healthcare delivery organizations to create clinical decision support alerts for the delivery of precision medicine information. Similarly, Herr et al. (2019) discussed that the use of clinical decision support alerts to deliver information for precision medicine is not standard and can be affected by the expertise of information specialists, the functionality of electronic health record systems, and funding. Herr et al. (2019) also explained that healthcare delivery organizations vary the timing and use of dynamic versus static text in clinical decision support alerts for precision medicine. Shifting to specific cases, Manzi et al. (2017) described an account in which a children's hospital adapted clinical decision support alerts that were provided by another healthcare delivery organization that has a different clinical setting. According to Manzi et al. (2017), the children's hospital uses the alerts at varied times in the provision of precision medicine services to deliver information for preventive purposes. In another case, Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016) explained that a multistate health system uses custom alerts to deliver information for precision medicine including guidance for patient testing,

recommendations for prescribing medications, and links to supplemental information. Similarly, according to Sperber et al. (2017), a healthcare delivery organization uses alerts to deliver precision medicine information including patient test results, test result significance, suggested actions, and links to supplemental information. Healthcare delivery organizations use clinical decision support alerts in assorted ways to deliver information for precision medicine.

Besides using clinical decision support alerts, healthcare delivery organizations regularly use online sites to deliver information for precision medicine. According to Rasmussen et al. (2016), several healthcare delivery organizations deliver genomic information for precision medicine using online sites. Similarly, Luzum et al. (2017) explained that several healthcare delivery organizations use online sites to deliver an assortment of materials for precision medicine including videos, presentations, publications, continuing education, information about genomic services, supplemental information for clinical decision support, and newsletters summarizing journal articles relevant to healthcare workers. Interestingly, in a discussion of controlling the delivery of information for precision medicine, Rasmussen et al. (2016) made a distinction between local and remote hosting by explaining that healthcare delivery organizations deliver information that is under control of the healthcare delivery organization and also deliver information that is under the control of another organization. Healthcare delivery organizations regularly deliver information for precision medicine using online sites.

In addition to using online sites, healthcare delivery organizations develop custom software applications to deliver information for precision medicine. For instance,

according to Aronson et al. (2016), an academic medical center developed a custom software application to deliver patient test results to healthcare workers for precision medicine. Similarly, Danahey et al. (2017) explained that a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization coordinated physical, human, and organizational forms of information technology resources to develop and monitor a custom software application used to deliver information indicating if medications could have undesirable affects based on inherited genomes. As is evident by the cases discussed, information delivery for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations can involve the development of custom software applications using multiple forms of information technology resources.

Healthcare delivery organizations not only use human and organizational forms of information technology resources in software development activities, but also in information delivery oversight activities for precision medicine. For instance, Manzi et al. (2017) provided an account in which a pediatric teaching hospital uses information specialists to serve on a pharmacogenomics committee to direct the delivery of information for precision medicine. Similarly, in the supplemental material of an article on developing clinical pharmacogenomics, Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016) explained that a large health system uses a committee to review the language to be delivered in clinical decision support alerts for precision medicine. Information specialists and committees represent human and organizational forms of information technology resources that healthcare delivery organizations use in information delivery oversight activities for precision medicine.

As well as oversight activities, healthcare delivery organizations use information technology resources in maintenance activities for information delivery due to the emerging state of precision medicine. For instance, according to Danahey et al. (2017), the delivery of clinical decision support information in a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization involves the use of an automated query mechanism to identify new literature sources that may lead to altering the delivery of information for precision medicine. As another example, Caraballo, Bielinski, et al. (2017) provided a case in which clinical decision support within an electronic health record system is used to deliver pharmacogenomic information for precision medicine. Caraballo, Bielinski, et al. (2017) explained that a multistate healthcare delivery organization experiences noteworthy maintenance issues for clinical decision support due to changes in published guidelines. According to Caraballo, Bielinski, et al. (2017), clinically relevant genomic discoveries, dynamic genomic interpretations, and changes in nomenclature are factors to consider regarding maintenance of information delivery. Given that the field of precision medicine is emerging, healthcare delivery organizations use information technology resources for the maintenance of information delivery.

In sum, there is an assortment of relevant aspects to consider regarding information technology resources used in healthcare delivery organizations to deliver information for precision medicine. Information technology enhances information delivery for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Healthcare delivery organizations use physical, human, and organizational forms of information technology resources to deliver information for precision medicine. Healthcare delivery organizations use multiple information sources and multiple channels in information delivery practices for precision medicine. Healthcare delivery organizations commonly use online sites, electronic health record systems, and clinical decision support alerts to deliver information for precision medicine. Due to the emerging state of precision medicine, healthcare delivery organizations oftentimes use information technology resources in specialized ways for information delivery. Healthcare delivery organizations develop custom software applications and adapt electronic health record systems to deliver information for precision medicine. Healthcare delivery organizations use an assortment of information technology resources in information delivery oversight and maintenance activities. There are a variety of relevant considerations regarding information technology resources used to deliver information for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Big Data Analytics

Healthcare delivery organizations can use big data analytics to address a broad range of issues. According to Kruse et al. (2016), there are several opportunities to apply big data analytics in healthcare delivery such as to improve the quality of patient care, increase operational efficiency, optimize decision making processes, and reduce costs. Similarly, in a discussion of investing in big data analytics by healthcare stakeholder organizations, Bates et al. (2018) explained that big data analytics are broadly applicable to enhancing healthcare delivery using predictive methods to enhance patient care quality, optimize operational processes, and improve resource utilization. Likewise, according to Guha and Kumar (2018), big data analytics can be used to improve the quality of patient care, increase operational efficiency, and lower costs. Additionally, in a systematic review of applications of big data analytics in the context of healthcare management, Kamble et al. (2019) discussed that big data analytics provides insights, enhances decision making, and improves service quality. Kamble et al. (2019) also provided a particular example of how healthcare organizations can use big data analytics in schedule planning. According to Kamble et al. (2019), big data analytics can be used to predict if a patient will attend a future appointment based on past attendance records. Big data analytics can be used to address a variety of issues associated with healthcare delivery organizations.

In addition to the broad applicability in healthcare delivery organizations, big data analytics are widely applicable to precision medicine in healthcare delivery. According to Vegter (2018), big data analytics are inherent in precision medicine. Additionally, Rumsfeld et al. (2016) explained that big data analytics are well suited for the size, complexity, and integration of data used for precision medicine. Furthermore, in a systematic review of applications of big data analytics in healthcare, Mehta and Pandit (2018) discussed that big data analytics are clinically useful for precision medicine. According to Mehta and Pandit (2018), big data analytics can be used to detect disease early, accurately predict the path of disease, and select targeted treatment for precision medicine. Big data analytics can be broadly applied to precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Given the broad applicability of big data analytics, it is not surprising that healthcare delivery organizations can use big data analytics to generate business value in

several ways. In conceptual studies of how healthcare organizations can generate business value using big data analytics, Wang and Hajli (2017) and Wang, Kung, Wang, et al. (2018) concurred that the use of big data analytics in healthcare can lead to benefits that are managerial, organizational, structural, strategic, and operational. Similarly, based on a systematic review, Mehta and Pandit (2018) claimed that big data analytics can provide value in healthcare by generating insights for operational benefit, clinical benefit, and financial benefit. In different systematic review, Mikalef et al. (2018) argued that an organization can generate business value using big data analytics to produce transparency, enable experimentation, segment populations, improve decision making, and innovate new services. Additionally, in a discussion of creating value using big data analytics in healthcare, Lee and Yoon (2017) explained that big data analytics have demonstrated value in clinical decision support and precision medicine. Furthermore, in a systematic review of big data analytics in healthcare to identify types of organizational and social value creation, Galetsi et al. (2019) explained that healthcare organizations can obtain value by using big data analytics to provide personalized service, improve decision making, innovate new services, manage performance, coordinate healthcare information, create efficiency, avoid risks to patient care, customize services for population segments, achieve cost effectiveness, and protect privacy. Healthcare delivery organizations can create business value in several ways using big data analytics.

In regard to furthering the discussion of using big data analytics to create business value, the creation of business value with big data analytics is affected by a mix of organizational, human, and physical forms of information technology resources. In a case-based study of big data analytics and benefits for healthcare organizations, Wang, Kung and Byrd (2018) argued that a blend of process, people, and information technology provides the foundation to produce business value from information technology. Additionally, in a study using Delphi and interview methods to examine management challenges in generating business value from big data analytics, Vidgen et al. (2017) suggested that a blend of organization, process, people, and technology affects the creation of business value. A mix of different forms of information technology resources affects the use of big data analytics to generate business value.

As well as affecting the creation of business value, a mix of organizational, human, and physical forms of information technology resources can be used by organizations to improve business performance with big data analytics. In a study including survey and case study methods to investigate big data analytics resource configurations that can generate business value, Mikalef et al. (2019) explained that big data analytics can lead to high business performance based on a coalescence of organization, process, people, technology, context, and data. In addition, Akter et al. (2016) provided a study incorporating theoretical assumptions from sociomaterialism and a resource-based view of the firm, which is the conceptual framework used in this study. According to Akter et al. (2016), organizational performance has a statistically significant positive relationship with a mixture of big data analytics management, big data analytics talent, and big data analytics technology. Likewise, in a study using survey methods to test a big data analytics model, Wamba et al. (2017) argued that organizational performance has a statistically significant positive relationship with a blend of big data analytics management, big data analytics personnel, and big data analytics infrastructure. Furthermore, in a study that included creating and using a survey instrument for the assessment of big data analytics, Gupta and George (2016) explained that a combination of organizational, human, and physical resources has a statistically significant positive relationship with two different organizational performance measures. Organizations can use big data analytics to increase business performance with a blend of physical, human, and organizational forms of information technology resources.

To further the discussion of combining resources, a big data analytics capability is a special type of resource that organizations can build by combining organizational, human, and physical forms of information technology resources. According to Akter et al. (2016), a big data analytics capability is built by integrating organizational, human, and physical components. Similarly, Wamba et al. (2017) discussed that management, personnel, and infrastructure components are combined to form a big data analytics capability. Furthermore, Gupta and George (2016) argued that a combination of various resources including a data-driven culture, managerial skills, investments, and technology allow a company to create a big data analytics capability. As suggested in the literature, organizations can create a big data analytics capability using a blend of organizational, human, and physical forms of information technology resources.

A big data analytics capability includes organizational forms of resources in main roles. According to Mikalef et al. (2018), the main intangible resources that permit a company to develop a big data analytics capability are governance and data-driven culture. Similarly, Gupta and George (2016) explained that the intangible resources of data-driven culture and intensity of organizational learning are statistically significant in building a big data analytics capability. Additionally, Akter et al. (2016) and Wamba et al. (2017) concurred that statistically significant management elements of a big data analytics capability include investment, planning, control, and coordination. Organizational forms of resources have key roles in a big data analytics capability.

Besides organizational forms of resources, human forms of resources have significant roles in a big data analytics capability. According to Gupta and George (2016), the human resources of managerial skills and technical skills are statistically significant in building a big data analytics capability. Additionally, Akter et al. (2016) and Wamba et al. (2017) concurred that statistically significant personnel elements of a big data analytics capability include business knowledge, relational knowledge, technical knowledge, and technology management knowledge. Similarly, Mikalef et al. (2018) explained that the main knowledge resources that permit an organization to develop a big data analytics capability are business knowledge, relational knowledge, technical knowledge, and business analytics knowledge. Human forms of resources have main roles in a big data analytics capability.

Like human and organizational forms of resources, physical forms of resources have key roles in a big data analytics capability. According to Mikalef et al. (2018), the main tangible resources needed to develop a big data analytics capability include data, software, information systems, and infrastructure. Similarly, Gupta and George (2016) explained that statistically significant tangible resources in building a big data analytics capability include data, technology, and basic resources such as time and investment. Physical forms of resources have significant roles in a big data analytics capability.

In sum, a discussion of the literature about big data analytics provides several relevant points to consider regarding this study. Healthcare delivery organizations can broadly apply big data analytics for a range of issues including the provision of precision medicine services. Healthcare delivery organizations can use big data analytics to generate business value in several ways. The creation of business value with big data analytics is affected by a mix of organizational, human, and physical forms of information technology resources. A blend of different forms of information technology resources can be used to improve business performance with big data analytics capability by combining organizational, human, and physical forms of information technology resources. There are several relevant considerations on the topic of big data analytics regarding this study.

Genomic Testing

Genomic testing is widely applicable to precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. According to Ronquillo et al. (2017), thousands of genomic tests for precision medicine exist and have several purposes. Similarly, Khoury (2017) explained that genomic tests for precision medicine are broadly available for disease prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Examples of genomic testing applications for precision medicine include the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of cancer and cardiovascular disease (Krasi et al., 2019; Warner, Jain, et al., 2016), which are among the leading causes of death globally (Cao et al., 2017). Additionally, reports indicate that healthcare workers regularly use genomic test information in patient care decisions for precision medicine (Dressler et al., 2018; Nadauld et al., 2018). Healthcare delivery organizations can broadly apply genomic testing for precision medicine.

To further the discussion of genomic testing, reports of genomic testing regularly include similar process steps. For instance, Aronson et al. (2016) discussed that the genomic testing process at an academic medical center includes ordering a test, performing the technical laboratory procedures, interpreting the technical results, and delivering the results to healthcare workers. Similarly, Warner, Jain, et al. (2016) explained that the process of genomic testing involves ordering a test, generating technical lab results, interpreting technical lab results, and delivering results to healthcare workers. Similarly, Warner, Jain, et al. (2016) explained that the process of genomic testing involves ordering a test, generating technical lab results, interpreting technical lab results, and delivering results to healthcare workers. Similar process steps for genomic testing are regularly discussed in reports.

Along with information about process, reports contain information regarding information technology resources used in genomic testing. Reports of genomic testing provide useful information about physical, human, and organizational forms of information technology resources used for precision medicine. The following discussion is based on information technology implementations for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Genomic testing process includes genomic test ordering procedures in which healthcare delivery organizations use information technology resources for precision medicine. For instance, according to Luzum et al. (2017), multiple healthcare systems use electronic health record systems to order pharmacogenetic tests for precision medicine. Similarly, in the context of oncology, Levit et al. (2019) explained that healthcare delivery organizations use electronic health record systems and clinical pathway systems to order genomics tests for precision medicine. In a tutorial based on the experience of two healthcare delivery organizations, Arwood et al. (2016) discussed that clinical decision support can facilitate the ordering of genomic tests for precision medicine. According to Arwood et al. (2016), clinical decision support can provide important information to healthcare workers in the genomic test ordering process. In keeping with the conceptual framework, electronic health record systems, clinical pathway systems, and clinical decision support are examples of physical information technology resources. Procedures to order genomic tests for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations incorporate information technology resources.

As well as using information technology resources in procedures to order genomic tests, healthcare delivery organizations use customized information technology resources in genomic test laboratory procedures for precision medicine. For instance, according to Manzi et al. (2017), a pediatric teaching hospital developed a customized web-based software application to automatically translate raw genomic test output data into a standard nomenclature. The ability to fulfill a need by creating and implementing custom software is an example of an organizational capability, which is a type of organizational information technology resource. In another case, Aronson et al. (2016) explained that an academic medical center's genetic testing laboratory uses multiple customized information technology components. According to Aronson et al. (2016), the customized information technology components include an enterprise gateway infrastructure system that can accommodate custom built laboratory information management systems, a specialized system to support the use of synthetic nucleotides, and a bioinformatic data pipeline to process raw genomic test output data. Genomic test laboratory procedures for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations include the use of customized information technology resources.

Healthcare delivery organizations not only use customized information technology resources in genomic test laboratory procedures, but also incorporate specialized information technology resources in procedures to interpret technical genomic test results for precision medicine. For instance, in a discussion of genomic testing practice models for precision medicine, Walko et al. (2016) explained that a clinical cancer center developed a database with the assistance of a bioinformatics team to bring together information from a variety of internal and external sources specifically relevant to interpreting genomic test laboratory results for precision medicine. Walko et al. (2016) also discussed that bioinformatics specialists serve on a committee responsible for interpreting technical genomic test results for precision medicine. The use of bioinformatics specialists provides an example of human information technology resources. In a different case, Aronson et al. (2016) provided an account in which an academic medical center performs tasks associated with the interpretation of technical genomic test results using multiple special purpose information technology components. According to Aronson et al. (2016), the special purpose information technology components include a genomic knowledge base, a case repository, a spreadsheet template which organizes relevant information, and customizable report templates. As another

example, Manzi et al. (2017) explained that a pediatric teaching hospital uses a specially designed software platform and carefully developed report templates containing dynamic variables in procedures to interpret technical genomic test results for precision medicine. Procedures to interpret technical genomic test results for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations include the use of specialized information technology resources.

Besides using specialized information technology resources in procedures to interpret technical genomic test results, healthcare delivery organizations incorporate assorted information technology resources in procedures to deliver genomic test results for precision medicine. For instance, in the context of pharmacogenomics, Caraballo, Hodge, et al. (2017) explained that an academic medical center uses translation tables in an electronic health record system to deliver standardized genomic test results that can appear in modules as clinical problems, allergies, pop-up alerts, and inbox messages. Caraballo, Hodge, et al. (2017) also explained that the academic medical center coordinated among multiple laboratories to use standard definitions for the delivery of genomic test results. In another case, Rosenman et al. (2017) provided an account in which the main campus of a healthcare delivery organization delivers genomic test results for precision medicine using email, fax, and an electronic health record system. Rosenman et al. (2017) also explained that the test results can appear in modules of the electronic health record system as full text reports, pop-up alerts, and clinical problems. In a different account, according to Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016), a multistate healthcare delivery organization uses an electronic health record system to deliver genomic test results in the form of lab results, pop-up alerts, and medication ordering considerations.

Procedures to deliver genomic test results for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations include the use of assorted information technology resources.

The use of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations can be affected by the type of genomic test results. According to Fujii et al. (2018), test results regarding the somatic genome can lose their relevance. For instance, the TP53 and PIK3CA genes provide an example in which testing for somatic genomic variation may need to be repeated when treating metastatic breast cancer because the genes can mutate (Fujii et al., 2018). Whereas, according to Keeling et al. (2019), test results regarding the inherited genome can be relevant throughout a person's lifetime for precision medicine. According to Hicks, Dunnenberger, et al. (2016), due to the potential lifetime usefulness of test results regarding the inherited genome the test results should be displayed independent of time. Additionally, Hinderer et al. (2017) and Arwood et al. (2016) agreed that special consideration should be given to the storage of genomic test results that have lifetime relevancy for patients. Furthermore, Caudle et al. (2018) provided the view that genomic test results that are relevant over a person's life should be stored with standardized nomenclature to enable transfer to different electronic health record systems. The type of genomic test results can affect the use of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

In sum, a discussion of genomic testing provides several relevant points to consider regarding this study. Genomic testing is widely applicable to precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Genomic testing processes commonly include test ordering procedures, laboratory test procedures, technical test result interpretation procedures, and test result delivery procedures. Healthcare delivery organizations use physical, human, and organizational forms of information technology resources in genomic testing for precision medicine. Healthcare delivery organizations use customized, specialized, and assorted information technology resources in genomic testing procedures. The type of genomic test results can affect the use of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. There are several relevant considerations on the topic of genomic testing regarding this study.

Summary and Conclusions

As part of performing the literature review, I identified multiple frequently occurring views that represent what is known regarding topics associated with this study. The first view is that the field of precision medicine is emerging. Second, data analytics is a vital component of precision medicine. Third, healthcare delivery organizations are in early stages of applying precision medicine. Fourth, healthcare delivery organizations use information technology to facilitate precision medicine. Fifth, healthcare delivery organizations use specialized and customized information technology resources for precision medicine. Sixth, healthcare delivery organizations use an assortment of physical, human, and organizational forms of information technology resources for precision medicine.

In addition to identifying themes in the literature I have found a lack of literature about how researchers view certain qualities of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. I conducted this study in part because the literature does not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. A detailed discussion of the research methods for this study is included in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this classical Delphi study was to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. A discussion of the research method, design, and procedures is included in Chapter 3. I provide a rationale for selecting a qualitative method and a Delphi design. The role of the researcher section includes a discussion of my participation in this study. In addition, I explain the participant selection logic and the sampling strategy. The instrumentation section contains a discussion about the questionnaire for each round. I also discuss procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection. I include information about how I analyzed data in connection with the research questions. Furthermore, I discuss issues of trustworthiness in terms of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. I also describe procedures concerning ethical issues. The chapter concludes with a summary of the important points.

Research Design and Rationale

Overarching research question: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

Subquestion 1: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?
Subquestion 2: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

As the research questions indicate, the main concept that I investigated in this study is centered around information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. There is a gap in knowledge regarding information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. There are several unknowns regarding the future use of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, and reporting consensus information from a Delphi study may aid people in making information technology resource decisions.

I selected the qualitative research method for this study based on its being well suited to address the research questions. According to Williams (2007), a researcher selects the research method according to the type of data most appropriate for responding to the research questions. Williams (2007) also mentioned that researchers can use a qualitative method to understand details in situations that are complex. Similarly, Ravitch and Carl (2016) explained that qualitative research is descriptive and fitting when pursuing complexity. Additionally, Woods et al. (2016) discussed that qualitative research combines knowledge and understanding to make judgements regarding the circumstances. Addressing the research questions involved gathering assessment information from knowledgeable people regarding a complex topic, which made a qualitative method suitable for this study.

When considering the literature, a Delphi design was appropriate for this study given that addressing the research questions involved assessing importance and feasibility information for a complex topic that is evolving and has many unknowns. According to Rikkonen and Tapio (2009), a Delphi design is appropriate for topics in which changes in trends are probable. Additionally, Delbecq et al. (1975) and Linstone and Turoff (2002) concurred that a Delphi design is fitting when there is incomplete information regarding a situation. Furthermore, Linstone and Turoff (2002) offered the view that a Delphi design allows a group of people to jointly address a complex problem and is useful to assess importance and feasibility of options. Linstone and Turoff (2002) also explained that the need for a Delphi design can result from certain characteristics, including when exact analytics are not suitable for working on a problem or when the participants needed to examine a complex problem have not had prior communication. In addition, Delbecq et al. (1975) discussed that a Delphi design can be useful for planning activities regarding information technology. A Delphi design was well suited for this study in that addressing the research questions involved assessing importance and feasibility information for a complex topic that is evolving and has many unknowns.

I did not select a variety of research traditions because they were less suitable to address the research questions when compared to a qualitative Delphi design. For instance, according to Yilmaz (2013), a quantitative method is appropriate to measure relationships between variables using preconstructed instruments into which participant perspectives are expected to fit. Additionally, Yilmaz (2013) discussed that a quantitative method is not fitting to capture the thoughts of participants in their own words. Furthermore, McCusker and Gunaydin (2015) explained that a quantitative method is susceptible to excluding contextual detail. Additional examples of research traditions that I did not select for this study include grounded theory, phenomenology, and ethnography. According to Hays and Wood (2011), grounded theory is suitable when the goal is to develop theory, phenomenology is fitting when the purpose is to describe the lived experiences of participants, and ethnography is typically used when the goal is to identify social patterns and norms. Another example of a research tradition that I did not select is a mixed methods design. Leech and Onwuegbuzie (2009) provided the view that a mixed methods design is mostly used for research questions that cannot be answered using a single research tradition. I reviewed several research traditions that were less fitting to address the research questions when compared to a qualitative Delphi design.

Role of the Researcher

Using the literature in support of conducting an ethically sound study by incorporating procedures to minimize potential researcher bias was part of my role as a researcher using a Delphi design. According to Avella (2016), in an effort to lessen potential researcher bias, Delphi participant selection procedures should exclude individuals with any type of personal or professional relationship with the researcher. Additionally, Jenkins and Smith (1994) discussed that Delphi investigators can reduce the potential for researcher bias by making an effort to preserve the wording of participants found in collected text data. Furthermore, Kim and Yeo (2018) provided the view that potential researcher bias can be reduced when using a Delphi method by specifying procedures to assess if consensus has been reached among the participants. To minimize potential researcher bias, I incorporated the advice discussed into procedures associated with participant selection and data analysis.

As a researcher using a Delphi design, my role included being an impartial observer that interacted with participants. According to Avella (2016), a researcher using a Delphi design should focus on recording and coordinating in an impartial manner rather than contributing information. Additionally, Hirschhorn (2019) explained that the Delphi process is directed by a coordinator that interacts with participants by distributing questionnaires and results. Similarly, Raveenthiran and Sarin (2015) discussed that the Delphi method involves a panel director facilitating responses from participants by distributing results. My role as a researcher using a Delphi design involved being an objective observer that interacted with participants.

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

The selection of participants is an important topic in a qualitative Delphi research study. According to O'Reilly and Parker (2013), creating a saturated sample in qualitative research involves selecting participants to create a collection of perspectives adequate to provide the depth and breadth of data needed to address the research questions. Additionally, Paré et al. (2013) explained that the selection of participants is critical for a Delphi study, which is dependent on the knowledge of the panel members. Furthermore, Goodman (1987) provided the view that if Delphi participants are knowledgeable about the subject under investigation, then the study data are expected to be sound. In sum, conducting a sound qualitative Delphi research study depends on selecting knowledgeable participants.

Sampling for this study incorporated the Delphi research practice of using nonprobability purposive sampling supplemented with snowball sampling to identify participants. According to Hasson et al. (2000), nonprobability purposive sampling is often used by Delphi researchers to select experts for the purpose of applying knowledge to a specific problem. Additionally, Skulmoski et al. (2007) explained that purposive sampling can be supplemented with snowball sampling to identify additional participants for Delphi studies. Furthermore, Habibi et al. (2014) discussed that nonprobability snowball sampling is suitable when it may be difficult to locate potential participants. I used nonprobability purposive and snowball sampling in this study.

I applied purposive and snowball sampling techniques in this study using multiple participant selection criteria, which were mainly based on the literature. Delbecq et al. (1975) explained that it is important for Delphi participants to have knowledge to contribute and good writing ability. Similarly, according to Avella (2016), potential Delphi participants should have expertise and the ability to write fluently. Likewise, Skulmoski et al. (2007) discussed that Delphi participants are required to be knowledgeable regarding the topic and able to communicate effectively. Additionally, according to Avella (2016), Delphi researchers can avoid potential bias using the relationship status between a potential participant and the researcher as a participant selection criterion. Grisham (2009), de Manincor et al. (2015), and Skinner et al. (2016) concurred that a minimum number of years of applicable professional experience can be used when selecting participants in a Delphi study. In this study, I included participants from the population of individuals that met the participant selection criteria, which were that an individual: (a) could describe cases illustrating good versus poor decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, (b) had a minimum of 3 years of professional experience dealing with information technology for precision medicine in healthcare delivery, (c) could write fluently in English, (d) did not have a personal or professional relationship with me, and (e) was at least 18 years old. Applying the participant selection criteria produced a homogenous sample in that participants had specialty knowledge within a given domain.

I sought a Delphi panel of at least 25 participants for this study. According to Delbecq et al. (1975), sample sizes for Delphi studies vary and 10 - 15 participants may be sufficient when the group is homogenous. Similarly, according to Hong et al. (2019), sample sizes vary, and a sufficient homogenous Delphi sample is usually small, such as 10 - 15 participants. Furthermore, Donohoe and Needham (2009) explained that participant attrition is a reality in Delphi studies and attrition rates of 50% have been reported. Likewise, Briedenhann and Butts (2006) discussed that a Delphi sample size should allow for attrition and cited an attrition rate of 48%. In sum, the desired sample size for this study was at least 25 to guard against attrition.

Forming an adequate sample entailed following recruitment procedures. I used a study invitation email to contact potential participants directly (see Appendix A). In addition to describing the study, the message in the invitation included the opportunity to suggest other individuals that might be interested in participating. Okoli and Pawlowski

(2004) and Rowe and Wright (2011) agreed that recruiting for a Delphi study can include snowball sampling. In the invitation, I also included a sentence explaining that a monetary gift of up to 30 U.S. dollars would be provided. I performed targeted recruiting using email addresses of authors that have written articles related to the research questions. Briedenhann and Butts (2006) and Donohoe and Needham (2009) agreed that potential participants for a Delphi can be identified using the literature. According to Rowe and Wright (2011) and Okoli and Pawlowski (2004), the literature is a useful source of information when forming a sample in a Delphi study. The literature contains an assortment of authors that may have knowledge regarding the research questions. In addition, I performed targeted searches on the internet to identify individuals believed to possess knowledge related to the research questions. According to Goluchowicz and Blind (2011), targeted internet searches can be used to identify panelists in a Delphi study. Using an approach similar to Lin and Song (2015), I attempted to recruit people having different work settings including academia and industry. I sent targeted study invitations individually. I stopped sending invitations after an adequate sample was formed. Given that the recruiting effort targeted people believed to have knowledge related to the research questions, I asked volunteers that provided consent to complete the eligibility questionnaire. I used responses to the eligibility questionnaire to determine if volunteers met the participant selection criteria. For reference, Appendix B contains screenshots of the eligibility questionnaire. Recruitment procedures provided a means to form a sample.

Instrumentation

Three questionnaires, one for each round, provided the data collection instrumentation in accordance with the Delphi research tradition. Hsu and Sandford (2007), Linstone and Turoff (2002), and Delbecq et al. (1975) agreed that a Delphi study is conducted using a sequence of meticulously designed questionnaires to collect data in which the responses collected from a questionnaire are used as input for the next questionnaire. Delbecq et al. (1975) also explained that data collection stops once a consensus is formed among the participants. Hasson et al. (2000) discussed that determining the number of rounds is crucial given that too few can result in nonmeaningful results and too many can cause participant fatigue. Powell (2003), Hsu and Sandford (2007), and Custer et al. (1999) concurred that typically three rounds are sufficient to reach consensus in a Delphi study. The instrumentation for data collection consisted of three questionnaires, one for each round.

The Round 1 questionnaire contained open-ended questions (see Appendix C). Hsu and Sandford (2007), Delbecq et al. (1975), and Powell (2003) agreed that typically the Round 1 questionnaire contains open-ended questions that provide the basis for data collection in that the collected responses will be incorporated into questionnaires that follow. Powell (2003) also explained that open-ended questions prompt participants to consider a topic broadly and allow for elaboration. According to Kalaian and Kasim (2012), open-ended questions in the first round should be focused on the issue being investigated. I used literature sources as the basis to determine the content of the Round 1 questionnaire. After reviewing the literature, I constructed the Round 1 questionnaire using open-ended questions that were focused on addressing the research questions.

I structured the Round 2 questionnaire so that participants could rate the importance and feasibility of information technology resources identified in Round 1 as well as optionally provide additional information technology resources (see Appendix D). Powell (2003), Hsu and Sandford (2007), and Kalaian and Kasim (2012) concurred that the Round 2 questionnaire commonly involves rating concepts derived from Round 1. Kalaian and Kasim (2012) also explained that the Round 2 questionnaire often contains structured closed-ended questions using a Likert-type scale. Sun et al. (2019), Linstone and Turoff (2002), and Klenk and Hickey (2011) agreed that ordinal 5-point Likert-type scales can be used to rate importance and feasibility in a Delphi study. I adopted the scales for importance and feasibility from Gordijn et al. (2016) and Linstone and Turoff (2002), respectively. Leyenaar et al. (2018), Custer et al. (1999), and Ludwig (1997) concurred that a Delphi questionnaire structured to rate concepts can include a place for participants to optionally suggest additional concepts. Considering that I could not determine the content of the Round 2 questionnaire prior to conducting Round 1, it is worth noting that the dependence of the Round 2 questionnaire content on the results of Round 1 provides support for the validity of the content. The procedure to convert Round 1 responses to rating questions for the Round 2 questionnaire entailed analyzing the responses using thematic analysis to condense the data. Condensing the data included removing redundant information technology resources. I added the resulting set of unique information technology resources to the Round 2 questionnaire in the form of importance

and feasibility rating questions. In sum, the structure of the Round 2 questionnaire allowed participants to optionally provide additional information technology resources as well as rate the importance and feasibility of information technology resources derived from Round 1 using ordinal 5-point Likert-type scales.

The structure of the Round 3 questionnaire allowed participants to rerate the importance and feasibility of information technology resources from Round 2 that did not have consensus of importance, feasibility, or both as well as rate the importance and feasibility of additional information technology resources collected in Round 2 (see Appendix E). Leyenaar et al. (2018), Ward et al. (2014), and Wester and Borders (2014) agreed that the Round 3 questionnaire can be structured to rerate concepts from Round 2 that do not have consensus. Similar to the procedure used to convert Round 1 responses to rating questions for the Round 2 questionnaire, the procedure to assess additional information technology resources collected in Round 2 entailed performing thematic analysis which included remove redundancies. New information technology resources that were identified in Round 2 were added to the Round 3 questionnaire in the form of importance and feasibility rating questions. The procedure to determine the rated information technology resources from Round 2 that were to be included in the Round 3 questionnaire to be rerated entailed assessing if there was consensus of importance and feasibility. I discuss the procedure that I used to decide if there was consensus in the data analysis plan section below. When an information technology resource that was rated in Round 2 did not have consensus of importance, feasibility, or both, the information technology resource was added to the Round 3 questionnaire in the form of importance

and feasibility rating questions. I structured the Round 3 questionnaire to allow participants to rerate the importance and feasibility of information technology resources from Round 2 that did not have consensus of importance, feasibility, or both as well as rate the importance and feasibility of additional information technology resources that were identified in Round 2.

Pilot and field tests of questionnaires are not typical in Delphi studies and were not part of this study. According to Avella (2016), pilot studies and field tests are not commonly used in Delphi studies. Additionally, Keeney et al. (2001) discussed that only a few Delphi researchers conduct pilot tests. Furthermore, in a review of Delphi studies about information systems, Paré et al. (2013) reported that less than one fifth of the studies included instrument pretesting. Similarly, Clibbens et al. (2012) performed a review of Delphi studies regarding healthcare of which less than one fourth included a pilot study. Because pilot and field tests of questionnaires are not typical in Delphi studies, I did not include the tests in this study.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

As previously discussed, I performed targeted recruiting using email. I used the literature and the internet to identify people believed to have knowledge related to the research questions. In the invitation emails, I asked potential participants to email me if they had an interest in participating. I emailed a consent form which included details about the study to people that expressed an interest. The consent form explained that the amount of the monetary gift was dependent on the level of participation. Completing each of the Round 1, 2, and 3 questionnaires increased the amount of the gift 10 U.S. dollars

for a possible total of \$30. I asked individuals that wished to volunteer to provide consent via email. I requested volunteers that provided consent to complete the eligibility questionnaire. I provided access to the eligibility questionnaire using a Survey Monkey website link. Clyne et al. (2012), Eleftheriadou et al. (2015), and Garofalo and Aggarwal (2018) concurred that Survey Monkey can be used to administer questionnaires in a Delphi study. I assessed responses to the eligibility questionnaire to determine if volunteers met all the participant selection criteria. I sent an email to volunteers that did not meet the participant selection criteria thanking them for volunteering and informing them that they were not selected to participate in the study. I invited all respondents to the eligibility questionnaire deemed eligible, according to the participant selection criteria, to complete the Round 1 questionnaire. People that did not complete the Round 1 questionnaire in the allotted 2 week timeframe were excluded from future requests to participate. Individuals that completed the Round 1 questionnaire made up the study sample. I stopped recruiting after an adequate sample was formed.

Data collection entailed three rounds of questionnaires. The questionnaire for each round should have taken approximately 15 minutes to complete. Okoli and Pawlowski (2004), Soobiah et al. (2019), and Wilkes et al. (2016) concurred that 15 minutes to complete a questionnaire in a Delphi study is suitable. I scheduled 2 weeks for each of the Round 1, 2, and 3 questionnaires to collect responses. Strear et al. (2018), Toronto (2017), and Delbecq et al. (1975) agreed that a 2 week timeframe for participants to complete a questionnaire is appropriate in a Delphi study. I used Survey Monkey website links to provide participants access to the questionnaire for each round. In an attempt to enhance questionnaire response rates, reminder emails were sent to nonresponding participants on day 7 and day 11 in each 2 week questionnaire timeframe. Hasson et al. (2000) and Jenkins and Smith (1994) agreed that sending reminders is a Delphi study technique used to improve response rates.

Part of the Delphi process is to provide participants controlled feedback between the Round 1, 2, and 3 questionnaires. Hsu and Sandford (2007) and Meijering and Tobi (2016) concurred that controlled feedback in a Delphi study consists of a summary of results from the previous questionnaire. I provided controlled feedback to participants in the form of summarized results. I emailed the Round 1 results to participants as an attachment before distributing the website link for the Round 2 questionnaire. Similarly, I emailed the Round 2 results to participants prior to distributing the website link for the Round 3 questionnaire. I used Survey Monkey to generate the summary figures provided in the Round 2 results.

When planning the overall schedule, I included a 2 week period after each of the Round 1 and 2 questionnaires to allow for data analysis, sending feedback to participants, creating the questionnaire for the next round, and review by Walden University personnel. The use of a 2 week period between rounds is an approach that has been used by other Delphi researchers (Strear et al., 2018). When considering the time between questionnaires, I initially estimated the total data collection period to be 2.5 months. After data collection was complete, I sent a conclusion email containing a summary of the study results to the participants.

Data Analysis Plan

I analyzed text data using thematic analysis. Powell (2003), Brady (2015), and de Loë et al. (2016) concurred that thematic analysis is typically performed in a Delphi study. I exported the text data from the Survey Monkey website into Microsoft Excel for analysis. The use of Excel is common in previous Delphi studies (Briedenhann & Butts, 2006; O'Rourke et al., 2014). During the text data analysis, I made an effort to preserve the wording used by participants as much as possible. Jenkins and Smith (1994) discussed that preserving the words of Delphi participants is a tactic to minimize potential researcher bias. I read the text data multiple times to become familiar with the information technology resources in the data. According to Braun and Clarke (2006), repeated reading of the data is a commonly used technique in the thematic analysis process to immerse yourself in the data. After familiarization with the information technology resources, I assigned at least one categorization code to each information technology resource that I identified. Condensing the coded text data included removing redundant information technology resources. The resulting set of information technology resources is what participants rated in terms of importance and feasibility. I used information technology resource importance and feasibility ratings to address research subquestions 1 and 2. I performed thematic analysis on the text data collected to develop a list of individual information technology resources that could be rated.

I analyzed information technology resource importance and feasibility ratings to assess if there was consensus among the participants. I exported statistical information for importance and feasibility ratings from Survey Monkey into Excel for analysis. Given

that importance and feasibility ratings were both derived from ordinal 5-point Likert-type scales, I used similar procedures to determine if there was consensus for each type of rating. Consensus could have occurred at either end of a scale. Survey Monkey provided the percent of responses received for each point on a scale. Using Excel, I summed the percent of responses received for the first and second points of a scale in addition to summing the percent of responses received for the fourth and fifth points of a scale. Fox et al. (2016) and Sheinis and Selk (2018) agreed that summing responses at both ends of a scale is appropriate in a Delphi study. I considered consensus to occur when a summed value totaled at least 75%, which is a threshold commonly used in earlier Delphi studies, according to Diamond et al. (2014). There were three possible results when analyzing ratings data for an information technology resource. Depending on which type of rating, if there was consensus at the beginning of a scale, I considered an information technology resource either not important or not feasible. If there was consensus at the end of a scale, I considered an information technology resource either important or feasible. I considered importance or feasibility of an information technology resource to be undetermined if there was not consensus. I analyzed information technology resource importance and feasibility ratings to address research subquestions 1 and 2.

I analyzed demographic data collected using the eligibility questionnaire using descriptive statistics to characterize the sample. After exporting responses to the eligibility questionnaire from Survey Monkey, I generated statistical information for demographic data using Excel. The use of descriptive statistics protects the identities of participants. The analysis of demographic data that were nominal and ordinal entailed calculating frequency and percent values, similar to how Bobonich and Cooper (2012) and Wiener et al. (2009) did. Like Nakatsu and Iacovou (2009) and Wilson et al. (2003), I calculated the mean value for the years of professional experience. The analysis of the demographic data entailed the use of descriptive statistics to characterize the sample.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Credibility, sometimes referred to as internal validity, deals with the truthfulness of the study results (Krefting, 1991; Morse, 2015). The literature contains several techniques to help increase rigor and confidence in study findings. According to Shenton (2004), confidence in the accuracy of qualitative research can be enhanced by adopting research methods used in similar studies, using methods that encourage participants to be frank, welcoming scrutiny of the research project by academic scholars, and reviewing findings of similar studies. In this study, I included each tactic mentioned to improve credibility. The research methods were mainly adopted from previous Delphi studies or had been described by Delphi scholars. I kept participant identity confidential, which encouraged participants to be frank. As part of the dissertation process, multiple Walden University faculty members examined the research project and provided feedback. I reviewed findings of similar studies during the literature review. I believe that the techniques discussed have increased rigor and confidence in the truthfulness of the study results.

Transferability

Transferability, referred to as external validity in quantitative studies, is about the applicability of the study findings in other contexts (Krefting, 1991; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Providing thick description of the study context enables readers to assess if the study results are applicable in other contexts (Cope, 2013; Morse, 2015). Shenton (2004) provided guidance on the information that researchers should provide to enable transferability, which includes the number and type of participants, the data collection methods, the number and duration of data collection events, and the duration of the data collection phase. I followed the guidance mentioned to address the trustworthiness criterion of transferability using thick description. I described the study context by providing detailed information regarding the sample and data collection. The information provided may aid readers in assessing if the findings of this study are transferable to other contexts.

Dependability

Dependability, referred to as reliability on occasion, concerns the consistency of the findings if the study were to be repeated (Morse, 2015; Shenton, 2004). The literature contains an assortment of techniques that can be used to help ensure consistency in study results. Krefting (1991) and Thomas and Magilvy (2011) concurred that providing thick description of research methods is an appropriate strategy to help establish dependability. In addition, Krefting (1991) discussed that having methodologists examine the research plan is another way to enhance dependability. Furthermore, Morse (2015) and Thomas and Magilvy (2011) agreed that the use of an audit trail is a suitable tactic to improve

dependability. According to Thomas and Magilvy (2011), an audit trail includes a description of the study purpose, a discussion of how the sample was formed, an explanation of data collection methods and time frames, and a discussion of techniques used to enhance credibility of the findings. In accord with the literature references, the techniques I used to enhance dependability included providing thick description of research methods, having methodologists examine the research plan, and using an audit trail as discussed.

Confirmability

Confirmability, sometimes referred to as objectivity, deals with the neutrality of the results in that the findings should be based on the data collected from participants and not affected by researcher bias (Krefting, 1991; Shenton, 2004). Engels and Kennedy (2007) explained that the ability to trace findings back to original sources is a requirement of confirmability. Anney (2014), Bowen (2009), and Tobin and Begley (2004) concurred that an audit trail supports confirmability. In addition, according to Cope (2013), providing participant quotes in connection with resulting themes is a valid way to demonstrate that the results originate from the collected data. In this study, I enhanced confirmability by using an audit trail and by including participant quotes in connection with themes.

Ethical Procedures

The institutional review board at Walden University reviewed this study. Walden University is the only organization involved with this study. I needed approval by the institutional review board prior to conducting this study. The institutional review board approval number is 01-26-21-0646612. I believe the institutional review board has considered several ethical aspects including factors associated with recruitment, informed consent, data collection, and the treatment of data.

As previously discussed, targeted recruitment of study participants involved emailing the study invitation directly to individuals believed to have knowledge related the research questions. In the invitation, I asked potential participants to email me if they had an interest in participating. I emailed a consent form that included details about the study to people that expressed an interest. I asked individuals that wished to provide informed consent to do so via email. I emailed volunteers that provided consent a Survey Monkey website link to access the eligibility questionnaire. Similarly, I emailed website links to participants to provide access to the questionnaire for each round. I believe that communicating with each participant individually using email enhanced the ability to keep participant identities confidential. I kept participant identities confidential including in reports associated with this study.

I downloaded research data from the password protected Survey Monkey website and stored the data on my password protected computer. I deleted data located on the Survey Monkey website after the study ended. I will store the research data for a minimum of 5 years on my personal computer. I may store the study data longer than 5 years for publication purposes. When it comes time to destroy the study data located on my computer, I will delete the files.

Summary

In sum, there were several important considerations regarding the methods used in this study. A qualitative method and a Delphi design were appropriate to address the research questions. I used multiple tactics to minimize potential researcher bias. I gave the creation of a study sample careful consideration. I performed data collection using three questionnaires, one for each round. In addition, I used data analysis results to determine which information technology resources were considered important and feasible. I also used several tactics to enhance the trustworthiness components of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. Furthermore, I addressed ethical aspects of the study. Having discussed the study methods in Chapter 3, Chapter 4 includes information regarding the study results.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this classical Delphi study was to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Determining a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility may help address the problem of people having limited information when making resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. This Delphi study could provide information that aids people in making sound information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The research questions were as follows.

Overarching research question: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

Subquestion 1: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

Subquestion 2: How does a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

This chapter includes information regarding the study results. The next section contains a discussion of the research setting, which is followed by a section about demographics of the study sample. I provide details regarding data collection and data analysis. I also discuss evidence of trustworthiness in terms of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. In addition, I provide the study results. Chapter 4 concludes with a summary of the findings.

Research Setting

I conducted the study remotely using email to communicate with participants. Little information is available about conditions participants were exposed to that may have influenced the participants at the time of the study. One indicator of organizational conditions is primary work setting, which I included as a demographic question. I limited the possible responses to the primary work setting question to academia, industry, and government. I provide the results of the primary work setting question in Table 1. Besides primary work setting, no further information is available about conditions participants were exposed to that may have influenced the participants at the time of the study.

Demographics

Recruitment results are summarized as follows. I distributed an estimated total of 15,000 study invitations via email during the period from 1/26/2021 to 3/30/2021. The exact number is unknown because I received numerous email replies explaining that the study invitation could not be delivered. I sent the consent form via email to 153 people that replied to me after receiving the study invitation. A total of 90 people provided consent. After a person provided consent, I emailed the person a link to the eligibility questionnaire with a note explaining that the link was unique to the person. The note indicated that responses would not be anonymous. Altogether, 79 people completed the eligibility questionnaire. Even though the invitation and consent form clearly provided

the eligibility requirements upfront, several people were ineligible based on their responses to the eligibility questionnaire. According to responses to the eligibility questionnaire, 63 people were eligible to participate. I invited all respondents to the eligibility questionnaire deemed eligible, according to the participant selection criteria, to complete the Round 1 questionnaire. The study sample only included people that complete the Round 1 questionnaire. I sent an email to people that did not complete the Round 1 questionnaire the the would not be asked to participate in the study going forward.

In addition to completing the Round 1 questionnaire, every member of the sample met the participant selection criteria based on the responses to the eligibility questionnaire. The participant selection criteria were that an individual: (a) could describe cases illustrating good versus poor decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, (b) had a minimum of 3 years of professional experience dealing with information technology for precision medicine in healthcare delivery, (c) could write fluently in English, (d) did not have a personal or professional relationship with me, and (f) was at least 18 years old. The participant selection criteria characterize the sample.

The sample is not only characterized by the participant selection criteria, but also by statistical information. The average number of years of professional experience dealing with information technology for precision medicine in healthcare delivery was 14.6 years for the study sample. As shown in Table 1, a high percentage of participants reported working in an industry setting. Most participants reported having a doctorate degree (see Table 2). Participants primary job function varied (see Table 3). The four participants that selected *other* for the primary job function, provided entries of: (a) doctor, (b) physician informaticist - clinical informatics, (c) founder and chief executive officer for clinical cloud, and (d) independent consultant. As shown in Table 4, the majority of participants resided in the United States.

Table 1

Work setting	Participants	
	n	%
Industry	34	65
Academia	16	31
Government	2	4

Participants Primary Work Setting

Table 2

Participants Highest Degree Earned

Degree	Part	Participants	
	n	%	
Doctorate	34	65	
Master's	13	25	
Bachelor's	5	10	
Associate's	0	0	
High school	0	0	

Job function	Participants	
	n	% ^a
Executive	19	37
Researcher	12	23
Director	9	17
Professor	4	8
Other	4	8
Manager	3	6
Engineer	1	2
Analyst	0	0

Participants Primary Job Function

^a Percent values do not total 100 due to rounding.

Country	Par	ticipants
	n	% ^a
United States	38	73
India	3	6
United Kingdom	2	4
Australia	1	2
Brazil	1	2
Canada	1	2
Netherlands	1	2
South Africa	1	2
South Korea	1	2
Spain	1	2
Sweden	1	2
Turkey	1	2

Country in Which Participants Resided

^a Percent values do not total 100 due to rounding.

Data Collection

Data collection occurred remotely by recording data using Survey Monkey. Participants completed the questionnaire for each round online. I provide data collection timeframes in Table 5. The timeframes for the Round 2 questionnaire and the Round 3 questionnaire correspond to the request for participants to complete each questionnaire within 2 weeks. The timeframe for the Round 1 questionnaire was longer than 2 weeks because I continued to perform recruitment activities concurrently with data collection for Round 1. I distributed the Round 1 questionnaire during the period from 3/25/2021 to 4/5/2021. I provide the number of participants that completed the questionnaire for each round in Table 6.

Table 5

Data Collection Timeframes

Questionnaire	Start date	End date	Days (n)
Round 1 questionnaire	3/25/2021	4/11/2021	18
Round 2 questionnaire	4/16/2021	4/29/2021	14
Round 3 questionnaire	5/8/2021	5/21/2021	14

Table 6

Questionnaire Completion Rates

Questionnaire	Questionnaires distributed	Questionnaires completed	Completion rate
Round 1 questionnaire	63	52	83%
Round 2 questionnaire	52	45	87%
Round 3 questionnaire	52	43	83%

I received a few emails from participants when conducting Round 2 that are noted here. One person suggested that it may be beneficial to allow respondents to enter comments for each item rated on the Round 2 questionnaire. Three other participants suggested that they would prefer to rate a smaller list of items than what resulted from Round 1. In sum, a few participants sent me comments during Round 2.

Data Analysis

The process to perform thematic analysis on the text data collected during Round 1 involved familiarization and coding. After exporting the data from Survey Monkey into Microsoft Excel, I read the responses multiple times to become familiar with the concepts in the data. In a few cases, I used the Google search engine to find background information about concepts that I knew little about. Additionally, I emailed two participants in an attempt to clarify their responses. Once familiar with the concepts in the Round 1 data, I began assigning category codes to the responses. I developed, applied, and modified the codes in an iterative manner during the coding process. The first pass entailed assigning at least one category code to each response. I proceeded by sorting the data using the category codes to group the responses. I reviewed and adjusted the category codes multiple times until the codes were applied consistently. I performed familiarization and coding steps as part of the thematic analysis process.

After coding was complete, I condensed the Round 1 text data into themes. To reduce the potential for researcher bias when forming themes, I made an effort to preserve the wording used by participants as much as possible. When forming themes, I noted and removed redundancies in the data. In cases where multiple responses conveyed basically the same idea, I typically created the theme using the words from a descriptive response. Additionally, I did not create themes for responses that did not appear to address the research questions. For instance, I did not create themes for responses of *x*, *y*, and *same as answer #2*. Tables 7 through 13 provide examples of the thematic analysis in that the tables contain participant responses and category codes for specific themes that

resulted during Round 1. I created themes by condensing the text data collected during Round 1.

Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Advanced Clinical Decision Support Capabilities

Participant number	Response	Category codes
3	Clinical decision support	Decision support
4	Clinical decision support system	Decision support
5	Knowledge based system (clinical decision support system)	Decision support and knowledge
6	Clinical decision support matrix	Decision support
19	Decision support tools for ordering	Decision support and ordering
28	CDST that enables evidence-based guidance on multiple factors	Decision support and evidence based
32	Decision support systems	Decision support
33	Advanced clinical decision support capabilities	Decision support and advanced
36	Robust clinical decision support and just-in-time point of care educational resources to support evidence based best practice	Decision support, robust, point of care, educational, evidence based, and best practice
40	CDS at clinic as well as pharmacy levels	Decision support and pharmacy
45	Decision support systems	Decision support
45	Decision support systems linking data with clinical decision making	Decision support
49	Point of care clinical decision support	Decision support and point of care
51	Clinical decision support	Decision support
52	Clinical decision support built on this data to help guide clinicians with complex decisions	Decision support and complex

Note. CDS is an acronym for clinical decision support and CDST stands for clinical

decision support tool.

Participant number	Response	Category codes
3	Artificial intelligence	Artificial intelligence
14	Artificial intelligence platforms	Artificial intelligence
16	Data analytics, artificial intelligence, and machine learning	Artificial intelligence, analytics, and machine learning
22	AI/ML	Artificial intelligence and machine learning
25	IA ^a	Artificial intelligence
28	AI	Artificial intelligence
37	Artificial intelligence for discovery & personalization of treatment	Artificial intelligence, discovery, personalization, and treatment
39	AI	Artificial intelligence
39	AI	Artificial intelligence
47	Machine learning - artificial intelligence	Artificial intelligence and machine learning

Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Artificial Intelligence Platforms

Note. AI is an acronym for artificial intelligence and ML stands for machine learning.

^a The multilingual Spanish speaking participant intended to enter AI, which was clarified via email.

Participant number	Response	Category codes
2	Cloud services capable of hosting patient data and running arbitrarily complex machine learning models that can be easily updated	Cloud, patient data, complex, and machine learning
7	Cloud based data processing and computing environment for model building and deployment	Cloud, data processing, and model
10	Server for data processing or access to cloud computing	Cloud, server, and data processing
16	Agnostic VNA/cloud technology	Cloud and vendor neutral archive
17	Cloud infrastructure	Cloud
20	Secure cloud platform for genomic data	Cloud and genomic data
26	Cloud access	Cloud
31	Redshift DB	Cloud and data warehouse
44	Cloud computing	Cloud
48	Cloud / federated / distributed solutions that store data (Amazon, Storj/Sia,)	Cloud, federated, and distributed

Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Cloud Computing

Note. VNA is an acronym for vendor neutral archive and DB stands for database.

Participant number	Response	Category codes
3	Data stewardship	Data stewardship
5	Data governance	Data governance
27	Data management	Data management
27	Data governance	Data governance
29	Data governance / stewardship	Data governance and data stewardship
38	Data management	Data management
42	Data management	Data management

Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Data Governance and Stewardship

Table 11

Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Data Scientists

Participant number	Response	Category codes
12	Data scientist - creates and/or manages analytics, visualizations	Data scientist, analytics, and visualization
15	Data scientist	Data scientist
22	Data scientist	Data scientist
23	Data scientists	Data scientist
24	Data scientists	Data scientist
27	Not all places will do discovery, but for those that do, trained data scientists to find the correlations needed for precision medicine	Data scientist, discovery, and find correlations
29	Data scientist	Data scientist
37	Data scientists	Data scientist

Reponses Used to Create the Theme Named: Next Generation DNA Sequencing Technology

Participant number	Response	Category codes
7	Next generation sequencing (NGS) DNA sequencing technology	Sequencing, next generation, and DNA
10	Access to good sequencing equipment to ensure quality	Sequencing and quality
14	Genome sequencing	Sequencing and genomic
22	Gene sequencer	Sequencing and genomic
43	NGS sequencing platforms	Sequencing and next generation

Note. NGS is an acronym for next generation sequencing and DNA stands for

deoxyribonucleic acid.

Table 13

Participant number	Response	Category codes
5	Storage plan (server side)	Storage and server
10	Space for backup and data storage	Storage and backup
18	Storage solutions for large data sets	Storage and big data
29	Data storage for both pre and post analysis	Storage
40	Storage	Storage

Not only was thematic analysis performed in Round 1, but also in Round 2 since the Round 2 questionnaire provided an opportunity to list additional information technology resources. The thematic analysis process used in Round 2 was basically the same as the process used in Round 1. One additional step I performed in Round 2 was to check that a theme had not already been identified in Round 1. Generally speaking, additional themes were created by condensing the text data collected during Round 2.

I analyzed importance ratings collected during the second and third rounds to determine if there was consensus among the participants. For each information technology resource that was rated, Survey Monkey automatically calculated the percent of responses received for each point on the 5-point importance scale. I exported the percent information from Survey Monkey into Excel. I used Excel formulas to sum percent values and determine if there was consensus. Consensus of importance could have occurred in two different cases. The first case was when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of unimportant or very unimportant. If the first case was met, I considered the information technology resource to be not important or very important. If the second case was met, I considered the information technology resource to be important. When neither the first nor the second case occurred, I considered the information technology resource to have undetermined importance.

Similar to the importance ratings, I analyzed feasibility ratings during Round 2 and Round 3 to determine if there was consensus among the participants. The analysis process for feasibility ratings parallels the analysis process used for importance ratings. After Survey Monkey autogenerated the percent of responses received for each point on the 5-point feasibility scale, I exported the percent information into Excel. I used Excel formulas to sum percent values and determine if there was consensus. Consensus of feasibility could have occurred in two different cases. The first case was when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of probably infeasible or definitely infeasible. If the first case was met, I considered the information technology resource to be not feasible. The second case was when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of probably feasible or definitely feasible. If the second case was met, I considered the information technology resource to be feasible. When neither the first nor the second case occurred, I considered the information technology resource to have undetermined feasibility.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Credibility, sometimes referred to as internal validity, deals with the truthfulness of the study results (Krefting, 1991; Morse, 2015). According to Shenton (2004), confidence in the accuracy of qualitative research can be enhanced by adopting research methods used in similar studies, reviewing findings of similar studies, using methods that encourage participants to be frank, and welcoming scrutiny of the research project by academic scholars. In this study, I included each tactic mentioned to improve credibility. The research methods were mainly adopted from previous Delphi studies or were described by Delphi scholars. I reviewed findings of similar studies during the literature review. To encourage participants to be frank, I kept participant identity confidential. As part of the dissertation process, multiple Walden University faculty members examined the research project and provided feedback. I used multiple techniques to increase rigor and confidence in the truthfulness of the study results.
Transferability

Transferability, referred to as external validity in quantitative studies, is about the applicability of the study findings in other contexts (Krefting, 1991; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Providing thick description of the study context enables readers to assess if the study results are applicable in other contexts (Cope, 2013; Morse, 2015). Shenton (2004) provided guidance on the information researchers should provide to enable transferability, which includes the number and type of participants, the data collection methods, the number and duration of data collection events, and the duration of the data collection phase. I followed the guidance mentioned to address the trustworthiness criterion of transferability using thick description. I described the study context by providing detailed information regarding the sample and data collection. The information provided may aid readers in assessing if the findings of this study are transferable to other contexts.

Dependability

Dependability, referred to as reliability on occasion, concerns the consistency of the findings if the study were to be repeated (Morse, 2015; Shenton, 2004). Krefting (1991) and Thomas and Magilvy (2011) concurred that providing thick description of research methods is an appropriate strategy to help establish dependability. In addition, Krefting (1991) discussed that having methodologists examine the research plan is another way to enhance dependability. Furthermore, Morse (2015) and Thomas and Magilvy (2011) agreed that the use of an audit trail is a suitable tactic to improve dependability. According to Thomas and Magilvy (2011), an audit trail includes a description of the study purpose, a discussion of how the sample is formed, an explanation of data collection methods and time frames, and a discussion of techniques used to enhance credibility of the findings. In accord with the literature references, the techniques I used to enhance dependability included providing thick description of research methods, having methodologists examine the research plan, and using an audit trail as discussed.

Confirmability

Confirmability, sometimes referred to as objectivity, deals with the neutrality of the results in that the findings should be based on the data collected from participants and not affected by researcher bias (Krefting, 1991; Shenton, 2004). Engels and Kennedy (2007) explained that the ability to trace findings back to original sources is a requirement of confirmability. Anney (2014), Bowen (2009), and Tobin and Begley (2004) concurred that an audit trail supports confirmability. In addition, according to Cope (2013)₂ providing participant quotes in connection with resulting themes is a valid way to demonstrate that the results originate from the collected data. In this study, I enhanced confirmability by using an audit trail and by including participant quotes in connection with themes.

Study Results

Round 1

The Round 1 questionnaire generated 447 participant responses, which resulted in a total of 114 information technology resources to be rated in Round 2. The full list of 114 information technology resources is available in Appendix F. In addition, information technology resources resulting from Round 1 are broken down in Table 14 according to the resource-based view of the firm, which served as the conceptual framework. In a resource-based view, an organizational capability is a special subtype of organizational resource (Makadok, 2001). The total number of organizational resources in Table 14 includes 37 organizational capabilities.

Table 14

Resource type	No. of information technology resources
Physical	49
Organizational	43
Human	22

Round 1 Results Summary According to the Conceptual Framework

Round 2

Of the 114 information technology resources that were rated in Round 2, the predetermined consensus thresholds for importance and feasibility were met for 59. All 59 information technology resources were considered to be important and feasible. A list of the important and feasible information technology resources is provided in Table 15 along with the resource type according to the conceptual framework. The entries in Table 15 are ordered by the percent agreement of being important and then by the percent agreement of being feasible.

Information technology resource	Resource	%	%
	type ^a	agreement	agreement
		important ^b	feasible ^c
Advanced clinical decision support capabilities	Organizational	98	89
	[capability]		
Data quality	Organizational [capability]	98	84
Application programming interface (API) management and integration	Organizational	93	87
Data governance and stewardship	Organizational	93	84
Ability to integrate external clinical decision support with the EHR	Organizational [capability]	93	78
Ontologies for data to make disparate data accessible	Physical	93	78
Clinical informatics	Organizational [capability]	91	96
Trained bioinformatics professionals	Human	91	93
Clinical informaticists	Human	91	91
Data scientists	Human	91	87
Data integration strategy	Organizational	91	80
Data security officer - ensures integrity of data sources	Human	89	93
Application development, testing, deployment, maintenance, and support	Organizational [capability]	89	91
Big data analysis	Organizational [capability]	89	91
Connectors for external data systems using standards (e.g., HL7-FHIR)	Physical	89	89
Data science	Organizational [capability]	89	89
Next generation DNA sequencing technology	Physical	89	89
Support for clinical terminology standards (e.g., ICD, SNOMED-CT, LOINC, and RxNorm)	Organizational [capability]	89	89

Information Technology Resources Deemed Important and Feasible During Round 2

Information technology resource	Resource type ^a	% agreement of being important ^b	% agreement of being feasible ^c
Clinical decision support knowledge	Human	89	84
Ability to deliver results in understandable and tangible format to patients	Organizational [capability]	89	82
Data modeling	Organizational [capability]	89	82
A common data model for patient data that enables rapid prototyping (e.g., OHDSI OMOP CDM)	Physical	89	78
Well-annotated database for variant classification	Physical	89	76
Clinical staff knowledgeable in physician workflow, pathology, and molecular testing	Human	87	89
Data architects	Human	87	89
Data visualization	Organizational [capability]	87	89
Evidence based medicine clinical pathway tools	Physical	87	78
Integrated knowledge resources that support informed decision making	Physical	84	91
Storage solutions for large data sets	Physical	84	91
Clinical informatics team composed of physician informaticists, molecular medicine subspecialists, and geneticists	Human	84	87
Curated data	Physical	84	84
Development, maturity, and uptake of standards for data exchange (including sequencing, genomics, proteomics, results, etc.)	Organizational [capability]	84	84
Data security software - not just ransomware protection but true data provenance and protections against data tampering	Physical	84	82
Big data analytics framework for aggregating, cleaning, and organizing data for meaningful analysis	Organizational	84	80
Ability to capture and represent patient-entered data and device output and integrate with transactional medical data	Organizational [capability]	84	76

Information technology resource	Resource type ^a	% agreement of being important ^b	% agreement of being feasible ^c
Ability to map over time as terminologies, such as ICD, change	Organizational [capability]	84	76
Data harmonization and normalization to ensure data is accurately ingested and used	Organizational [capability]	84	76
Access to educational content about precision medicine for patients and providers	Physical	82	89
Genomic storage and processing system (i.e., genomics ancillary system)	Physical	82	89
Data engineer	Human	82	80
Expertise in machine learning	Human	82	80
Integration and extension of context in data standards	Organizational [capability]	82	80
Additional programming personnel to support building advanced clinical decision support	Human	82	78
Software developer subject matter experts to develop integrated tools that maximize the use of data	Human	82	78
Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) expertise	Human	80	91
Bioinformatics	Organizational [capability]	80	89
Data engineering	Organizational [capability]	80	80
Remote patient monitoring technology	Physical	80	80
Ability to represent key precision medicine data elements (e.g., gene names, genomic variants, and phenotypes) as structured data in the EHR	Organizational [capability]	80	78
Systems integration specialist	Human	78	84
Biomedical information retrieval (IR) systems	Physical	78	82
Translational informatics	Organizational [capability]	78	82
CMIO, CHIO, or CCIO - to enable clinical application of new knowledge from analytics	Human	78	80

Information technology resource	Resource type ^a	% agreement of being important ^b	% agreement of being feasible ^c
Additional processing capacity for huge databases holding precision medicine data	Physical	78	78
Digital front door framework - strong digital connectivity with patients when not in a facility or clinic	Organizational	78	78
High performance computing (HPC) environment, such as graphics processing unit (GPU) clusters or supercomputers, to process protected health information	Physical	78	78
Analytic dashboards	Physical	76	93
Statistical thinking	Human	76	80
Virtual patient portal for information exchange and real time documentation	Physical	76	76

Note. An information technology resource was considered important when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of important or very important. An information technology resource was considered feasible when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of probably feasible or definitely feasible. The acronyms include: (a) CCIO, chief clinical informatics officer; (b) CDM, common data model; (c) CHIO, chief health information officer; (d) CMIO, chief medical information officer; (e) DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; (f) EHR, electronic health record; (g) FHIR, Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources; (h) HL7, Health Level Seven; (i) ICD, International Classification of Diseases; (j) LOINC, Logical Observation Identifiers Names and Codes; (k) OHDSI, Observational Health Data Sciences and Informatics; (l) OMOP, Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership; and (m) SNOMED-CT, Systemized Nomenclature of Medicine - Clinical Terms.

^a The resource type for an organizational resource that has a resource subtype of organizational capability is denoted as *organizational [capability]*. ^b The percent of responses in the important or very important rating categories. ^c The percent of responses in the probably feasible or definitely feasible rating categories.

Considering that only 59 out of the 114 information technology resources rated in Round 2 met the predetermined consensus thresholds for importance and feasibility, further assessment was needed for the 55 information technology resources that were considered to have undetermined importance, undetermined feasibility, or both. I provided summary information about importance and feasibility ratings for the 55 information technology resources to participants prior to Round 3 (see Appendix G). The summary information allowed participants to consider the group's position relative to their own. In Round 3, I asked participants to rerate the 55 information technology resources in an attempt to determine importance and feasibility.

The raw data collected in Round 2 included a total of 80 free text responses, which resulted in identifying 45 additional information technology resources using thematic analysis. A list of the 45 additional information technology resources can be found at the end of Appendix G. I added the additional information technology resources to the Round 3 questionnaire to be rated in terms of importance and feasibility. Table 16 provides a summary of the 45 additional information technology resources identified during Round 2 according to the conceptual framework. The resource subtype known as an organizational capability accounts for 14 of the organizational resources in Table 16.

Summary of Additional Information Technology Resources Identified During Round 2

Resource type	No. of additional information technology resources
Organizational	17
Human	15
Physical	13

Round 3

Of the 100 information technology resources that participants rated in Round 3, the predetermined consensus thresholds for importance and feasibility were met for 18. All 18 information technology resources were considered important and feasible. A list of the 18 information technology resources is provided in Table 17 along with the resource type according to the conceptual framework. I grouped the entries in Table 17 by the round that the information technology resource originated in. Within the groups, I ordered the table entries by the percent agreement of being important and then by the percent agreement of being feasible.

Information technology resource	Resource type ^a	% agreement of being important ^b	% agreement of being feasible ^c
Originated during Round 1			
Integration of EHR, genomic, and pharmacologic platforms	Organizational [capability]	91	79
Natural language processing	Physical	88	77
Application programming interface (API) with labs that offer genetic or precision testing	Physical	81	77
Clinical decision support customizability	Physical	81	77
Computational biology	Organizational [capability]	79	84
Cloud computing	Physical	77	93
Ability to capture genetic variants and their meaning in genomic sequence	Organizational [capability]	77	77
Originated during Round 2			
Collaborative teams that include experienced physicians working with engineers and data scientists	Human	95	86
The necessary subject matter experts across a variety of disciplines (e.g., integration, genomics, data science, data architecture, etc.)	Human	86	86
Clinical decision support architect	Human	84	91
Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR)	Physical	84	88
Someone that has knowledge of both clinical informatics and bioinformatics	Human	84	86
Someone with expertise to create precision clinical decision support	Human	84	84
Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) clinical decision support tool	Physical	84	81

Information Technology Resources Deemed Important and Feasible During Round 3

Information technology resource	Resource type ^a	% agreement of being important ^b	% agreement of being feasible ^c
Application programming interface (API) development by EHR vendors	Organizational [capability]	84	79
Predictive analysis	Organizational [capability]	81	77
Data standardization experts	Human	79	81
Scientific publication access	Physical	77	79

Note. An information technology resource was considered important when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of important or very important. An information technology resource was considered feasible when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of probably feasible or definitely feasible. EHR is an acronym for electronic health record.

^a The resource type for an organizational resource that has a resource subtype of organizational capability is denoted as *organizational [capability]*. ^b The percent of responses in the important or very important rating categories. ^c The percent of responses in the probably feasible or definitely feasible rating categories.

Considering that only 18 out of the 100 information technology resources rated in Round 3 met the predetermined consensus thresholds for importance and feasibility, the other 82 information technology resources were considered to have undetermined importance, undetermined feasibility, or both. I list the 82 information technology resources in Table 18 along with the resource type according to the conceptual framework.

Information technology resource	Resource Importance ^b				Feasibility ^c	
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g	
Originated during Round 1						
Ability to capture granular phenotypes using EHR data (i.e., deep phenotyping)	Organizational [capability]	5	88	16	58	
Access to electronic medical records and clinical genomics research data	Physical	0	86	5	72	
Ability to enable pragmatic clinical trials that seamlessly integrate with the standard course of care	Organizational [capability]	2	86	9	60	
Ability to evaluate the effectiveness of artificial intelligence and machine learning models that use genomic, social determinant, and EHR data	Organizational [capability]	2	86	14	58	
Platform integration across devices	Organizational [capability]	2	81	2	74	
Ability to record and catalogue raw unstructured patient data (e.g., notes, images, etc.)	Organizational [capability]	9	81	12	65	
IT infrastructure to capture real time events (e.g., emergency department admissions related to adverse drug events)	Physical	5	81	7	65	

Information Technology Resources Considered to Have Undetermined Importance, Undetermined Feasibility, or Both

Information technology resource	Resource	Import	ance ^b	Feasil	bility ^c
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g
Ability to rapidly adopt new and evolving standards (e.g., FHIR and genomic implementation guides)	Organizational [capability]	5	81	7	60
Data capture for patients in different populations to avoid bias based on location, sex, social determinants of health, or chronic conditions	Organizational [capability]	2	81	9	60
Big data platform - large scale analytics support incorporating whole-view data for a patient (e.g., clinical, biometric, sequencing, population health, etc.)	Physical	0	79	12	53
Ability to execute and maintain artificial intelligence and machine learning models and integrate them into clinicians' workflows seamlessly	Organizational [capability]	2	79	9	44
Enhanced ability to capture and use patient provided information to incorporate patient preferences into treatment plan and capture patient reported outcomes	Organizational [capability]	0	77	2	67
Analysis provenance and traceability of results	Organizational [capability]	2	77	2	60
Automated event detection and reporting systems for drug reaction, medication dispensing, etc.	Physical	0	77	7	60
Ability to develop artificial intelligence and machine learning models using genomic, social determinant, and EHR data	Organizational [capability]	9	77	9	49

Information technology resource	Resource	Impor	tance ^b	Feasibility ^c	
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g
Adaptable and expandable data architecture	Physical	2	72	2	74
Clinical bioinformatics in which clinical and bioinformatic aspects can be used with artificial intelligence and machine learning	Organizational [capability]	2	72	0	74
An integrated data environment that can support medical care, financial transactions, quality improvement, and research	Physical	7	72	12	53
Access to a global database and a database that is relevant to the local population	Physical	0	72	19	40
Clinical trials infrastructure built in	Physical	0	70	2	67
Multimodal clinical data repository	Physical	0	70	2	67
IT infrastructure connected to a data warehouse for health services research and economic estimates for the impact of personalized medicine (e.g., emergency department admissions and expenses related to adverse drug events before and after the introduction of a pharmacogenetic program to screen all adults for FDA related drug-gene interactions)	Physical	2	70	7	60
Artificial intelligence platforms	Physical	0	67	0	72

Information technology resource	Resource	Impor	tance ^b	Feasi	bility ^c
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g
Native interoperability and application programming interface (API) connectivity between EHR, electronic case report form (eCRF), and biobank databases	Physical	2	67	2	65
Artificial intelligence in solving protein structures and understanding their role in different pathway mechanisms	Physical	2	67	5	44
Terminologists	Human	5	65	5	70
Data lakes that can be federated	Physical	7	65	0	63
Artificial intelligence in next generation sequencing technologies	Physical	2	65	5	58
Agile management	Organizational	2	60	0	70
Federated data analytics	Organizational [capability]	5	60	7	63
Knowledge graphs	Physical	2	60	0	63
Artificial intelligence and machine learning to detect the severity of diseases using computed tomography (CT) images	Physical	9	58	7	65
Mobile device data and metadata	Physical	7	58	5	63
Artificial intelligence in drug discovery using simple molecular docking and virtual screening approaches	Physical	5	58	7	53
Cloud services specialist	Human	9	56	2	88

Information technology resource	Resource	Impor	tance ^b	Feasibility ^c	
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g
Temporal reasoning	Human	7	56	9	51
Semantic modeling	Organizational [capability]	7	56	2	42
Agnostic cloud technology and a vendor neutral archive	Physical	14	53	5	49
Edge computing that allows local processing of medical data (e.g., smart watch)	Physical	9	51	0	72
Computer vision	Physical	5	49	0	67
Chatbots or other tools that streamline patient outreach by not requiring a clinician	Physical	19	49	5	60
Artificial intelligence chips (also called artificial intelligence hardware or artificial intelligence accelerators)	Physical	16	47	9	42
Pathway software to enable the understanding of mechanisms (e.g., Elsevier Pathway Studio)	Physical	16	44	0	60
Conversational artificial intelligence	Physical	12	44	5	51
Expertise in conversational artificial intelligence	Human	21	37	5	49
Drools and CQL developers	Human	14	35	0	53
Blockchain technology	Physical	28	30	5	53
Blockchain specialist	Human	33	30	7	51

Information technology resource	Resource	Impor	Importance ^b		Feasibility ^c	
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g	
Originated during Round 2						
Interoperability across different platforms (e.g., EHR, genomic data, etc.)	Organizational [capability]	0	98	7	72	
Knowledge management with clinical and IT personnel	Organizational [capability]	5	86	2	74	
Interoperability experts	Human	0	84	0	70	
Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) genomics standards for discrete results, data alignment, and storage	Physical	2	84	0	65	
Knowledge about EHR integration options that minimize alert fatigue and provide precision recommendations	Human	2	79	7	72	
Preparation for clinical decision support that scales to thousands of rules	Organizational	2	79	0	70	
Genomics laboratory information system that stores sequencing data and can translate results into an understandable narrative for the provider	Physical	2	79	5	65	
Preparation for precision medication that leverages molecular (e.g., DNA) findings	Organizational	0	77	5	74	
More sustainable genomic nomenclature (e.g., Human Genome Variation Society nomenclature)	Physical	5	77	0	70	

Information technology resource	Resource	Importance ^b		Feasibility ^c	
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g
Software engineering	Organizational [capability]	2	74	0	84
Substitutable Medical Apps and Reusable Technology (SMART) on Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR)	Physical	2	74	0	77
Pilot testing capabilities	Organizational [capability]	5	74	5	72
Genomic nomenclature converting tools across multiple IT platforms	Physical	5	74	0	58
Pilot testing environment	Physical	5	72	5	81
Program manager for precision medicine initiative execution	Human	2	72	2	79
Machine learning capability	Organizational [capability]	5	72	0	72
Real world data literacy	Human	2	72	12	51
Use case design	Organizational [capability]	2	70	2	77
Patient data and educational resources outside the EHR	Physical	7	67	12	67
Transnational knowledge base (e.g., CPIC guideline)	Physical	7	65	0	63

Information technology resource	Resource	Impor	Importance ^b		Feasibility ^c	
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreemen of being feasible ^g	
Human factor engineering - taking clinician and patient personas into account	Organizational [capability]	5	65	5	53	
Knowledge about deep learning	Human	9	63	2	72	
Translational knowledge engineering	Organizational [capability]	7	63	5	56	
Task force to implement new technologies	Human	2	60	2	67	
Open source commercial software	Physical	19	60	14	49	
Increased number of full-time equivalents (FTEs)	Human	5	60	14	47	
Contract specialist among providers, researchers, vendors, and the government	Human	12	56	5	58	
Computer vision expertise	Human	5	47	2	63	
3D printing	Organizational [capability]	28	40	0	79	
Supercomputer management	Organizational	19	37	7	56	
Healthcare virtual and augmented reality	Organizational [capability]	28	37	5	47	
Nanotechnology	Organizational [capability]	26	33	7	42	
Development of quantum computing solutions	Organizational [capability]	23	30	9	35	

Information technology resource	Resource	Importance ^b		Feasibility ^c	
	type ^a	% agreement of being not important ^d	% agreement of being important ^e	% agreement of being not feasible ^f	% agreement of being feasible ^g
No code and low code machine learning solutions	Physical	19	28	9	30

Note. An information technology resource was considered to have undetermined importance when at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of unimportant or very unimportant and at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of important or very important. An information technology resource was considered to have undetermined feasibility when at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of probably infeasible or definitely infeasible and at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of probably feasible or definitely infeasible and at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of probably feasible or definitely feasible. The acronyms include (a) CPIC, Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium; (b) CQL, Clinical Quality Language; (c) DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; (d) EHR, electronic health record; (e) FDA, Food and Drug Administration; (f) FHIR, Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources; and (g) IT, information technology.

^a The resource type for an organizational resource that has a resource subtype of organizational capability is denoted as *organizational [capability]*. ^b Adding the percent agreement of being not important to the percent agreement of being important and then subtracting the sum from 100 will approximate the percent of responses in the rating category of neutral. ^c Adding the

percent agreement of being not feasible to the percent agreement of being feasible and then subtracting the sum from 100 will approximate the percent of responses in the rating category of may or may not be feasible. ^d The percent of responses in the unimportant or very unimportant rating categories. ^e The percent of responses in the important or very important rating categories. ^f The percent of responses in the probably infeasible or definitely infeasible rating categories. ^g The percent of responses in the probably feasible or definitely feasible rating categories.

Summary

A total of 159 information technology resources were identified and rated in terms of importance and feasibility. The predetermined consensus thresholds for importance and feasibility were met for 77 information technology resources. All 77 information technology resources that met the predetermined consensus thresholds were considered important and feasible. Table 19 summarizes the 77 information technology resources considered important and feasible according to the conceptual framework, which was the resource-based view of the firm. I considered the other 82 information technology resources to have undetermined importance, undetermined feasibility, or both. I provide a summary of the information technology resources that did not reach the predetermined consensus threshold for importance, feasibility, or both in Table 20.

Summary of Information Technology Resources Deemed Important and Feasible

Resource type	No. of information technology resources
Organizational	30 ^a
Physical	25
Human	22

Note. An information technology resource was considered to be important when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of important or very important. An information technology resource was considered to be feasible when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of probably feasible or definitely feasible.

^a The resource subtype of organizational capability accounts for 25 of the organizational resources.

Summary of Information Technology Resources Considered to Have Undetermined Importance, Undetermined Feasibility, or Both

Resource type	No. of information technology resources considered important and having undetermined feasibility	No. of information technology resources considered feasible and having undetermined importance	No. of information technology resources having undetermined importance and undetermined feasibility
Organizational	15 ^a	3 ^b	12 °
Physical	7	2	28
Human	2	2	11

Note. An information technology resource was considered important when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of important or very important. An information technology resource was considered feasible when at least 75% of the ratings fell in the rating categories of probably feasible or definitely feasible. An information technology resource was considered to have undetermined importance when at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of unimportant or very unimportant and at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of important or very unimportant. An information technology resource was considered to have undetermined feasible or very unimportant. An at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of important or very important. An information technology resource was considered to have undetermined feasibility when at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of probably infeasible or definitely infeasible and at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of probably infeasible or definitely infeasible and at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of probably infeasible or definitely infeasible or definitely infeasible and at least 75% of the ratings did not fall in the ratings did not fall in the rating categories of probably infeasible or definitely infeasible or definitely infeasible or definitely feasible.

^a The resource subtype of organizational capability accounts for 13 of the organizational resources. ^b The resource subtype of organizational capability accounts for 3 of the

organizational resources. ^c The resource subtype of organizational capability accounts for 10 of the organizational resources.

Having presented the study results, the next chapter concludes the study. Chapter 5 includes an interpretation of the findings and limitations. In addition, the last chapter includes recommendations for additional research, study implications, and a conclusion section.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this classical Delphi study was to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology experts view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. When considering the literature, a Delphi design was appropriate for this study given that addressing the research questions involved assessing importance and feasibility information for a complex topic that is evolving and has many unknowns. According to Rikkonen and Tapio (2009), a Delphi design is appropriate for topics in which changes in trends are probable. In addition, Delbecq et al. (1975) and Linstone and Turoff (2002) concurred that a Delphi design is fitting when there is incomplete information regarding a situation. In accord with Linstone and Turoff (2002), the Delphi design allowed a group of people to jointly address a complex problem and assess importance and feasibility of options.

An important reason I conducted this study is that people have incomplete information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The study results may provide information to aid people in making well-informed information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Of the 159 information technology resources rated by participants, the predetermined consensus thresholds for importance and feasibility were met for 77 information technology resources. All 77 information technology resources were considered important and feasible. I considered the other 82 information technology resources to have undetermined importance, undetermined feasibility, or both. The next section of this chapter includes an interpretation of the findings. Then I discuss study limitations, recommendations for further research, and implications regarding practice, theory, and positive social change. The last section of the chapter concludes the study.

Interpretation of Findings

To my knowledge, this is the first study conducted to determine how a panel of precision medicine information technology specialists view information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The study results extend the information found in the literature in that the results contain a consensus of information technology resources considered important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The results unite several separate discussions in the literature to form a more comprehensive view on the subject that I investigated.

Information technology resources regarding data science that were deemed important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations are in line with writings about data science in the context of precision medicine. For instance, the literature contains claims that precision medicine is deeply connected to data science and that big data science provides an epistemological base for precision medicine (Fröhlich et al., 2018; Vegter, 2018). Although the study results do not definitively prove the claims made in the literature regarding data science, the findings provide support for the claims. The information technology resources deemed important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations not only include data science, which I categorized as an organizational capability according to the conceptual framework, but also include data scientists, who are human information technology resources. Five additional information technology resources deemed important and feasible include expertise in machine learning, statistical thinking, data visualization, predictive analysis, and natural language processing. The concepts embedded in the five additional information technology resources are often associated with data science (Misnevs & Jackiva, 2016; Raschka et al., 2020). Information technology resources regarding data science that were deemed important and feasible are in line with writings about data science.

Given the link between precision medicine and data science, it comes as no surprise that information technology resources considered important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations that incorporate big data are in accord with literature references. As an example, Wu et al. (2017) and Gligorijević et al. (2016) agreed that big data analytics enable precision medicine. In accord with Wu et al. (2017) and Gligorijević et al. (2016), information technology resources considered important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations include big data analysis, which I categorized as an organizational resource, and a big data analytics framework for aggregating, cleaning, and organizing data for meaningful analysis, which I categorized as an organizational capability. As another example, Moscatelli et al. (2018) discussed an optimized way to store big data for precision medicine. In accord with Moscatelli et al. (2018), storage solutions for large data sets were considered a physical information technology resource that is important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Information technology resources considered important and feasible that incorporate big data are in accord with literature references.

With the connections of precision medicine to big data and data science, it makes sense that information technology resources deemed important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations that are related to data standards are congruent with discussions in the literature. For instance, in a discussion of using electronic health record systems for precision medicine, Sitapati et al. (2017) explained that terminology standards enable healthcare organizations to exchange health data. Congruent with the discussion by Sitapati et al. (2017), support for clinical terminology standards was deemed an important and feasible information technology resource for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. In keeping with the conceptual framework, I categorized support for clinical terminology standards as an organizational capability. Sitapati et al. (2017) also explained that standards for some types of data used in precision medicine need further development and adoption. Congruent with the view provided by Sitapati et al. (2017), the development, maturity, and uptake of standards for data exchange was deemed an important and feasible information technology resource for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations and was categorized as an organizational capability. The literature contains several articles that include discussions about data standards in the context of precision medicine. As another example, Warner, Rioth, et al. (2016) discussed the use of the Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources standard in the creation of a software program to deliver genomic information in a

clinical environment for oncologic precision medicine. Congruent with the discussion by Warner, Rioth, et al. (2016), both the physical information technology resource named Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources and the human counterpart named Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources expertise were deemed important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Information technology resources related to data standards deemed important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations are congruent with discussions in the literature.

Information technology resources dealing with clinical decision support considered important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations are consistent with cases found in the literature. For example, in one case Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016) explained that a multistate health system used custom rules for clinical decision support when implementing pharmacogenomics, which is a form of precision medicine. Consistent with the case discussed by Hicks, Stowe, et al. (2016), clinical decision support customizability was considered an important and feasible physical information technology resource for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. In another case, Danahey et al. (2017) discussed how a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization integrated a standalone clinical decision support system with an electronic health record system to aid healthcare workers when making medication prescribing decisions for precision medicine. Consistent with the case discussed by Danahey et al. (2017), the ability to integrate external clinical decision support with the electronic health record was considered an information technology resource that is important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery

organizations and was categorized as an organizational capability. In a third case, Dolin et al. (2018) developed a clinical decision support service for pharmacogenomics using Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources. Consistent with the case discussed by Dolin et al. (2018), a Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources clinical decision support tool was considered an important and feasible physical information technology resource for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Information technology resources dealing with clinical decision support considered important and feasible are consistent with cases found in the literature.

Information technology resources regarding interdisciplinary efforts deemed important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations are in line with literature references. Prosperi et al. (2018) explained that precision medicine requires interdisciplinary expertise. Additionally, Xu et al. (2021) provided the view that medical informatics in the context of precision medicine has an interdisciplinary nature. Furthermore, Brown (2016) discussed that technical solutions for precision medicine can be enabled using interdisciplinary efforts. In line with Prosperi et al. (2018), Xu et al. (2021), and Brown (2016), human information technology resources deemed important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations include: (a) the necessary subject matter experts across a variety of disciplines; (b) a clinical informatics team composed of physician informaticists, molecular medicine subspecialists, and geneticists; and (c) collaborative teams that include experienced physicians working with engineers and data scientists. Information technology resources regarding interdisciplinary efforts deemed important and feasible are in line with literature references.

Information technology resources considered important and feasible for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations that are related to genomics are in accord with discussions in the literature. For example, Rasmussen et al. (2019) discussed that a university affiliated healthcare delivery organization developed an ancillary genomics system that imports genomic test results from laboratories, processes the test results, and provides the test results to an electronic health record system. In accord with the discussion by Rasmussen et al. (2019), a genomic storage and processing system was considered an important and feasible physical information technology resource for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. As another example, Manzi et al. (2017) discussed that a children's hospital records genomic variants and interpretations of the variants in an electronic health record system for pharmacogenomics. In accord with the discussion by Manzi et al. (2017), the ability to capture genetic variants and their meaning in genomic sequence was considered an important and feasible information technology resource for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations and was categorized as an organizational capability. As a third example, Swaminathan et al. (2016) discussed three application programming interfaces focused on genomics that can be used to access genomic data sources, such labs that perform genetic testing. In accord with the discussion by Swaminathan et al. (2016), an application programming interface with labs that offer genetic or precision testing was considered an important and feasible physical information technology resource for precision medicine in healthcare delivery

organizations. Information technology resources considered important and feasible that are related to genomics are in accord with discussions in the literature.

Limitations of the Study

A limitation was that this study was subject to self-selection bias in that the sample was composed of specialists who chose to participate. Knowledgeable experts may have opted not to participate in the study due to time constraints, indifference to the study, or insufficient compensation. In addition to offering a modest monetary gift, I partially addressed the first limitation by using questionnaires that did not require a substantial amount of time to complete.

Another limitation was that I used a cross-sectional design rather than a longitudinal design. A cross-sectional investigation is useful to analyze data for a specific point in time (Babbie, 2017) and does not provide information on how time may be an influence (Caruana et al., 2015). An example of the cross-sectional design limitation is that, according to McCoy (2017) and Vogl et al. (2018), research participants' perspectives may change over time. I partially addressed the second limitation by using a process to form consensus among the study participants. A consensus approach may have created a balanced perspective and incorporated persisting elements regarding the research questions.

A third limitation was that most of the participants stated they reside in the United States. There are many differences in healthcare systems of other countries when compared to healthcare in the United States. (Toth, 2016). The generalizability of the study to countries not represented in the sample is unknown. Considering differences in healthcare systems across different countries is beyond the scope of this study.

Recommendations

Having identified several information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations, there are multiple opportunities to conduct additional research about the information technology resources. One research opportunity is to further investigate information technology resources that I considered to have undetermined importance, undetermined feasibility, or both. As of this writing, it is unknown why some information technology resources have undetermined importance or feasibility. Another research opportunity is to explore contextual information regarding the information technology resources. The need for a specific information technology resource may be affected by the context in which it is used. A third opportunity for further research about the information technology resources identified is to investigate particular groupings of information technology resources. It is possible that some combinations of information technology resources may be more beneficial than others. Another opportunity to conduct additional research is to explore how the information technology resources that I categorized as organizational capabilities are built and embedded within a company in the context of precision medicine. It may be useful to understand how much time and effort is needed to create an organizational capability. There are multiple opportunities to conduct further research about the information technology resources that I identified.

Based on the study limitations, there are multiple opportunities to conduct further research on the central topic that I examined. To recap the limitations, I conducted the study at a point in time using a sample of individuals that mostly resided in the United States and chose to participate knowing they were eligible to receive a modest monetary gift. Since I conducted the study at a point in time, there is a research opportunity to revisit the topic that I examined in the future. Given that the field of precision medicine is emerging, new developments could affect information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Considering that most participants stated they resided in the United States, further research could be conducted on the topic that I examined by targeting foreign countries. Research focused on foreign countries could result in additional insights. Because the study was dependent on individuals who chose to participate knowing they were eligible to receive a modest monetary gift, there is a research opportunity to conduct a study on the topic that I examined by using stronger incentives to entice knowledgeable individuals to participate. Using stronger incentives to attract knowledgeable individuals could result in incorporating other viewpoints. There are multiple opportunities to conduct further research based on the study limitations.

Implications

At a societal level, the study results could give rise to positive social change by enabling progress toward improved healthcare quality using information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Information technology resources for precision medicine are underutilized, which can lead to adverse effects healthcare quality (Caraballo, Bielinski, et al., 2017). Having created a list of information technology resources considered important and feasible, the study results could create a shared vision of what is needed to fulfill information technology resource requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Creating a shared vision could lead to improved utilization of information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations as well as improved healthcare quality. The study results could prompt positive social change at a societal level by enabling progress toward improved healthcare quality.

In addition to positive social change at a societal level, the study results could lead to positive social change at an organizational level by informing information technology resource decisions for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. For instance, reports indicate there is a shortage of information specialists with the skills necessary to implement precision medicine (Gómez-López et al., 2019; Hulsen et al., 2019). Positive social change could result by educational organizations considering the study results when making decisions about enhanced curricula targeted at people who function as human information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Enhanced curricula may help alleviate the shortage of information specialists. As another example, multiple reports suggest that commercially available information technology products are not mature in terms of meeting the requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations (Hoffman et al., 2016; Warner, Rioth, et al., 2016). Positive social change could result by commercial vendors considering the study results when making decisions about the
creation of new physical information technology resources that would meet the requirements for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. As a third example, reports indicate that data storage approaches used in early precision medicine implementations may be insufficient for the long term (Danahey et al., 2017; Hicks, Dunnenberger, et al., 2016). Positive social change could result by healthcare delivery organizations considering the study results when making decisions about the creation of adaptable data storage solutions for precision medicine. Adaptability could help increase the longevity of data storage solutions. The study results could lead to positive social change by informing decisions made by organizations regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

Besides positive social change at organizational and societal levels, the study results may lead to positive social change at an individual level by advancing the intellect of people. I conducted this study in part because the literature did not contain a consensus of information technology resource importance and feasibility for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Considering that this study addresses a literature gap, individuals that read this dissertation may benefit intellectually. The study results may lead to positive social level change at an individual level.

As well as having implications for positive social change, the study results could accelerate developments in theory. Given the emerging state of the field of precision medicine, the results could provide a new perspective to advance concepts associated with information technology resource planning when future circumstances are unclear. Additionally, having determined information technology resource importance and feasibility, the study results could inform conceptual models concerning the evolution of information technology resources for precision medicine. Furthermore, the results could lead to a better understanding of how the dynamics of information technology resources for precision medicine influence society. The study results could contribute to different types of advancements in theory.

In addition to social and theoretical advances, the study results could contribute to improvements in practice. The results could aid people in making strategic planning decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Additionally, the study results could be insightful to people when prioritizing resource investment options. Furthermore, the results could be useful to people when assessing opportunities to create new information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. This study could lead to improvements in practice in multiple ways.

The study results could enable practitioners to be more efficient. Practitioners could save time by using the list of information technology resources as a checklist of resources to consider when making decisions regarding precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. Additionally, practitioners could use the list of information technology resources to consider information technology resources in an organized and more complete way. Furthermore, the list of information technology resources could be used by practitioners as a delegation aid when assigning tasks. There are multiple ways in which the study results could enable practitioners to be more efficient.

Conclusions

Healthcare delivery organizations have a tremendous opportunity to use insights from the emerging field of precision medicine to improve the quality of healthcare (Starkweather et al., 2018; Weinshilboum & Wang, 2017). Achieving the potential benefits of precision medicine entails utilizing diverse and complex types of healthcare data with the aid of information technology (Gligorijević et al., 2016; Gómez-López et al., 2019). However, healthcare delivery organizations underutilize information technology resources for precision medicine which can lead to adverse effects on the quality of services provided (Caraballo, Bielinski, et al., 2017). In addition, people have limited information to use when making decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations given the emerging state of precision medicine.

The study results provide information that could benefit individuals, organizations, and society regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. People that consider the results could benefit intellectually. Organizations could benefit by using the study results to inform decisions regarding information technology resources. The study results could benefit society by creating a shared vision and enabling progress toward improved healthcare quality.

References

- Akter, S., Wamba, S. F., Gunasekaran, A., Dubey, R., & Childe, S. J. (2016). How to improve firm performance using big data analytics capability and business strategy alignment? *International Journal of Production Economics*, 182, 113-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.08.018
- Alessandrini, M., Chaudhry, M., Dodgen, T. M., & Pepper, M. S. (2016).
 Pharmacogenomics and global precision medicine in the context of adverse drug reactions: Top 10 opportunities and challenges for the next decade. *OMICS: A Journal of Integrative Biology*, 20(10), 593-603.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/omi.2016.0122
- Amit, R., & Schoemaker, P. J. H. (1993). Strategic assets and organizational rent. Strategic Management Journal, 14(1), 33-46.

https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250140105

- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:
 Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 5(2), 272-281.
- Aral, S., & Weill, P. (2007). IT assets, organizational capabilities, and firm performance:
 How resource allocations and organizational differences explain performance
 variation. *Organization Science*, *18*(5), 763-780.

https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1070.0306

Arnall, J. R., Petro, R., Patel, J. N., & Kennedy, L. (2019). A clinical pharmacy pilot within a precision medicine program for cancer patients and review of related pharmacist clinical practice. *Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice*, 25(1), 179-186. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078155217738324

- Aronson, S., Mahanta, L., Ros, L. L., Clark, E., Babb, L., Oates, M., Rehm, H., & Lebo,
 M. (2016). Information technology support for clinical genetic testing within an academic medical center. *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, 6(1), 1-9.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm6010004
- Arwood, M. J., Chumnumwat, S., Cavallari, L. H., Nutescu, E. A., & Duarte, J. D.
 (2016). Implementing pharmacogenomics at your institution: Establishment and overcoming implementation challenges. *Clinical and Translational Science*, 9(5), 233-245. https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12404

Auffray, C., Balling, R., Barroso, I., Bencze, L., Benson, M., Bergeron, J., Bernal-Delgado, E., Blomberg, N., Bock, C., Conesa, A., Del Signore, S., Delogne, C., Devilee, P., Di Meglio, A., Eijkemans, M., Flicek, P., Graf, N., Grimm, V., Guchelaar, H.-J., . . . Zanetti, G. (2016). Making sense of big data in health research: Towards an EU action plan. *Genome Medicine*, 8(1), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0323-y

Avella, J. R. (2016). Delphi panels: Research design, procedures, advantages, and challenges. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 11, 305-321. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/3561</u>

Babbie, E. R. (2017). The basics of social research (7th ed.). Cengage Learning.

Barney, J. B. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, *17*(1), 99-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700108</u>

- Barney, J. B. (2001). Is the resource-based "view" a useful perspective for strategic management research? Yes. Academy of Management Review, 26(1), 41-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2001.4011938</u>
- Bates, D. W., Heitmueller, A., Kakad, M., & Saria, S. (2018). Why policymakers should care about "big data" in healthcare. *Health Policy and Technology*, 7(2), 211-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2018.04.006</u>
- Beckmann, J. S., & Lew, D. (2016). Reconciling evidence-based medicine and precision medicine in the era of big data: Challenges and opportunities. *Genome Medicine*, 8, 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0388-7</u>
- Bharadwaj, A. S. (2000). A resource-based perspective on information technology capability and firm performance: An empirical investigation. *MIS Quarterly*, 24(1), 169-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3250983</u>
- Bobonich, M. A., & Cooper, K. D. (2012). A core curriculum for dermatology nursepractitioners: Using Delphi technique. *Journal of the Dermatology Nurses' Association*, 4(2), 108-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/JDN.0b013e31824ab94c</u>
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Supporting a grounded theory with an audit trail: An illustration. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *12*(4), 305-316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570802156196</u>
- Brady, S. R. (2015). Utilizing and adapting the Delphi method for use in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14(5), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915621381</u>

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.

https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Briedenhann, J., & Butts, S. (2006). Application of the Delphi technique to rural tourism project evaluation. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 9(2), 171-190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500608668246</u>
- Brown, S.-A. (2016). Patient similarity: Emerging concepts in systems and precision medicine. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 7, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2016.00561
- Cao, B., Bray, F., Beltrán-Sánchez, H., Ginsburg, O., Soneji, S., & Soerjomataram, I.
 (2017). Benchmarking life expectancy and cancer mortality: Global comparison with cardiovascular disease 1981-2010. *BMJ*, 357, 1-11.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j2765

Caraballo, P. J., Bielinski, S. J., St. Sauver, J. L., & Weinshilboum, R. M. (2017). Electronic medical record-integrated pharmacogenomics and related clinical decision support concepts. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *102*(2), 254-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.707</u>

Caraballo, P. J., Hodge, L. S., Bielinski, S. J., Stewart, A. K., Farrugia, G., Schultz, C. G., Rohrer-Vitek, C. R., Olson, J. E., St. Sauver, J. L., Roger, V. L., Parkulo, M. A., Kullo, I. J., Nicholson, W. T., Elliott, M. A., Black, J. L., & Weinshilboum, R. M. (2017). Multidisciplinary model to implement pharmacogenomics at the point of care. *Genetics in Medicine*, *19*(4), 421-429. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2016.120 Caruana, E. J., Roman, M., Hernández-Sánchez, J., & Solli, P. (2015). Longitudinal studies. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 7(11), E537-E540. <u>https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2015.10.63</u>

Caudle, K. E., Keeling, N. J., Klein, T. E., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Pratt, V. M., & Hoffman, J. M. (2018). Standardization can accelerate the adoption of pharmacogenomics: Current status and the path forward. *Pharmacogenomics*, *19*(10), 847-860. https://doi.org/10.2217/pgs-2018-0028

- Chan, S. L., Ang, X., Sani, L. L., Ng, H. Y., Winther, M. D., Liu, J. J., Brunham, L. R., & Chan, A. (2016). Prevalence and characteristics of adverse drug reactions at admission to hospital: A prospective observational study. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 82(6), 1636-1646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.13081</u>
- Clibbens, N., Walters, S., & Baird, W. (2012). Delphi research: Issues raised by a pilot study. *Nurse Researcher*, *19*(2), 37-43.

https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2012.01.19.2.37.c8907

- Clyne, W., White, S., & McLachlan, S. (2012). Developing consensus-based policy solutions for medicines adherence for Europe: A Delphi study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 12, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-425</u>
- Conner, K. R. (1991). A historical comparison of resource-based theory and five schools of thought within industrial organization economics: Do we have a new theory of the firm? *Journal of Management*, *17*(1), 121-154.

https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700109

- Cope, D. G. (2013). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(1), 89-91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Côrte-Real, N., Ruivo, P., Oliveira, T., & Popovič, A. (2019). Unlocking the drivers of big data analytics value in firms. *Journal of Business Research*, 97, 160-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.12.072</u>
- Custer, R. L., Scarcella, J. A., & Stewart, B. R. (1999). The modified Delphi technique -A rotational modification. *Journal of Vocational and Technical Education*, *15*(2), 50-58.
- Danahey, K., Borden, B. A., Furner, B., Yukman, P., Hussain, S., Saner, D.,
 Volchenboum, S. L., Ratain, M. J., & O'Donnell, P. H. (2017). Simplifying the use of pharmacogenomics in clinical practice: Building the genomic prescribing system. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 75, 110-121.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2017.09.012

de Loë, R. C., Melnychuk, N., Murray, D., & Plummer, R. (2016). Advancing the state of policy Delphi practice: A systematic review evaluating methodological evolution, innovation, and opportunities. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *104*, 78-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.12.009</u>

de Manincor, M., Bensoussan, A., Smith, C., Fahey, P., & Bourchier, S. (2015).
Establishing key components of yoga interventions for reducing depression and anxiety, and improving well-being: A Delphi method study. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 15(1), 85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-015-0614-7</u>

- Delbecq, A. L., Van de Ven, A. H., & Gustafson, D. H. (1975). Group techniques for program planning: A guide to nominal group and Delphi processes. Scott Foresman Company.
- Diamond, I. R., Grant, R. C., Feldman, B. M., Pencharz, P. B., Ling, S. C., Moore, A. M., & Wales, P. W. (2014). Defining consensus: A systematic review recommends methodologic criteria for reporting of Delphi studies. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 67(4), 401-409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.12.002</u>
- Diin, F. A., Dahlan, R. M., & Sukardi, S. (2018). From Penrose to Sirmon: The evolution of resource based theory. *Journal of Management and Leadership*, *1*(2), 1-13.
- Dolin, R. H., Boxwala, A., & Shalaby, J. (2018). A pharmacogenomics clinical decision support service based on FHIR and CDS hooks. *Methods of Information in Medicine*, 57(S 2), e115-e123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0038-1676466</u>
- Donohoe, H. M., & Needham, R. D. (2009). Moving best practice forward: Delphi characteristics, advantages, potential problems, and solutions. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, *11*(5), 415-437. https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.709
- Dressler, L. G., Bell, G. C., Ruch, K. D., Retamal, J. D., Krug, P. B., & Paulus, R. A. (2018). Implementing a personalized medicine program in a community health system. *Pharmacogenomics*, 19(17), 1345-1356. <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/pgs-2018-0130</u>
- Duncan, N. B. (1995). Capturing flexibility of information technology infrastructure: A study of resource characteristics and their measure. *Journal of Management*

Information Systems, 12(2), 37-57.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1995.11518080

- Dunnenberger, H. M., Biszewski, M., Bell, G. C., Sereika, A., May, H., Johnson, S. G., Hulick, P. J., & Khandekar, J. (2016). Implementation of a multidisciplinary pharmacogenomics clinic in a community health system. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 73(23), 1956-1966. <u>https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160072</u>
- Ekwonwune, E. N., Egwuonwu, D. U., Elebri, L. C., & Uka, K. K. (2017). ICT as an instrument of enhanced banking system. *Journal of Computer and Communications*, 5(1), 53-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/jcc.2017.51005</u>
- Eleftheriadou, V., Thomas, K., van Geel, N., Hamzavi, I., Lim, H., Suzuki, T., Katayama, I., Anbar, T., Abdallah, M., Benzekri, L., Gauthier, Y., Harris, J., Silva de Castro, C. C., Pandya, A., Goh, B. K., Lan, C.-C. E., Oiso, N., Al Issa, A., Esmat, S., . . .
 Ezzedine, K. (2015). Developing core outcome set for vitiligo clinical trials:
 International e-Delphi consensus. *Pigment Cell & Melanoma Research*, 28(3), 363-369. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcmr.12354
- Engels, T. C. E., & Kennedy, H. P. (2007). Enhancing a Delphi study on family-focused prevention. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 74(4), 433-451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2005.11.008</u>

Feero, W. G. (2017). Introducing "genomics and precision health". Journal of the American Medical Association, 317(18), 1842-1843. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.20625 Fernandes, B. S., Williams, L. M., Steiner, J., Leboyer, M., Carvalho, A. F., & Berk, M. (2017). The new field of 'precision psychiatry'. *BMC Medicine*, 15(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-017-0849-x</u>

Fiore, L., Ferguson, R. E., Brophy, M., Kudesia, V., Shannon, C., Zimolzak, A., Pierce-Murray, K., Turek, S., & Lavori, P. (2016). Implementation of a precision oncology program as an exemplar of a learning health care system in the VA. *Federal Practitioner*, 33(Suppl. 1), 26S-30S.

Fox, A. R., Gordon, L. K., Heckenlively, J. R., Davis, J. L., Goldstein, D. A., Lowder, C. Y., Nussenblatt, R. B., Butler, N. J., Dalal, M., Jayasundera, T., Smith, W. M., Lee, R. W., Adamus, G., Chan, C.-C., Hooks, J. J., Morgans, C. W., Detrick, B., & Sen, H. N. (2016). Consensus on the diagnosis and management of nonparaneoplastic autoimmune retinopathy using a modified Delphi approach. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*, *168*, 183-190.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2016.05.013

- Fröhlich, H., Balling, R., Beerenwinkel, N., Kohlbacher, O., Kumar, S., Lengauer, T.,
 Maathuis, M. H., Moreau, Y., Murphy, S. A., Przytycka, T. M., Rebhan, M., Röst,
 H., Schuppert, A., Schwab, M., Spang, R., Stekhoven, D., Sun, J., Weber, A.,
 Ziemek, D., & Zupan, B. (2018). From hype to reality: Data science enabling
 personalized medicine. *BMC Medicine*, *16*, 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-</u>018-1122-7
- Fujii, T., Matsuda, N., Kono, M., Harano, K., Chen, H., Luthra, R., Roy-Chowdhuri, S., Sahin, A. A., Wathoo, C., Joon, A. Y., Tripathy, D., Meric-Bernstam, F., & Ueno,

N. T. (2018). Prior systemic treatment increased the incidence of somatic mutations in metastatic breast cancer. *European Journal of Cancer*, 89, 64-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2017.11.015

- Galetsi, P., Katsaliaki, K., & Kumar, S. (2019). Values, challenges and future directions of big data analytics in healthcare: A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine*, 241, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112533</u>
- Garofalo, M., & Aggarwal, R. (2018). Obstetrics and gynecology modified Delphi survey for entrustable professional activities: Quantification of importance, benchmark levels, and roles in simulation-based training and assessment. *Cureus*, 10(7), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.3051
- Ginsburg, G. S., & Phillips, K. A. (2018). Precision medicine: From science to value. *Health Affairs*, *37*(5), 694-701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1624</u>
- Gligorijević, V., Malod-Dognin, N., & Pržulj, N. (2016). Integrative methods for analyzing big data in precision medicine. *Proteomics*, 16(5), 741-758. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.201500396</u>
- Goluchowicz, K., & Blind, K. (2011). Identification of future fields of standardisation:
 An explorative application of the Delphi methodology. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(9), 1526-1541.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2011.04.014

Gómez-López, G., Dopazo, J., Cigudosa, J. C., Valencia, A., & Al-Shahrour, F. (2019).
Precision medicine needs pioneering clinical bioinformaticians. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, 20(3), 752-766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbx144</u>

- Goodman, C. M. (1987). The Delphi technique: A critique. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *12*(6), 729-734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.1987.tb01376.x</u>
- Gordijn, S. J., Beune, I. M., Thilaganathan, B., Papageorghiou, A., Baschat, A. A., Baker,
 P. N., Silver, R. M., Wynia, K., & Ganzevoort, W. (2016). Consensus definition of fetal growth restriction: A Delphi procedure. *Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *48*(3), 333-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/uog.15884</u>
- Grant, R. M. (1991). The resource-based theory of competitive advantage: Implications for strategy formulation. *California Management Review*, 33(3), 114-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/41166664</u>
- Grisham, T. (2009). The Delphi technique: A method for testing complex and multifaceted topics. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 2(1), 112-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17538370910930545</u>
- Guha, S., & Kumar, S. (2018). Emergence of big data research in operations management, information systems, and healthcare: Past contributions and future roadmap. *Production and Operations Management*, 27(9), 1724-1735. https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.12833
- Gupta, M., & George, J. F. (2016). Toward the development of a big data analytics capability. *Information & Management*, 53(8), 1049-1064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2016.07.004</u>
- Habibi, A., Sarafrazi, A., & Izadyar, S. (2014). Delphi technique theoretical framework in qualitative research. *The International Journal of Engineering & Science*, *3*(4), 8-13.

Hasson, F., Keeney, S., & McKenna, H. (2000). Research guidelines for the Delphi survey technique. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 32(4), 1008-1015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2000.t01-1-01567.x</u>

Hays, D. G., & Wood, C. (2011). Infusing qualitative traditions in counseling research designs. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 89(3), 288-295.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2011.tb00091.x

Henderson, J. C., & Venkatraman, H. (1999). Strategic alignment: Leveraging information technology for transforming organizations. *IBM Systems Journal*, 38(2&3), 472-484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1147/SJ.1999.5387096</u>

Herr, T. M., Peterson, J. F., Rasmussen, L. V., Caraballo, P. J., Peissig, P. L., & Starren,
J. B. (2019). Pharmacogenomic clinical decision support design and multi-site
process outcomes analysis in the eMERGE Network. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 26(2), 143-148.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocy156

- Hicks, J. K., Aquilante, C. L., Dunnenberger, H. M., Gammal, R. S., Funk, R. S., Aitken, S. L., Bright, D. R., Coons, J. C., Dotson, K. M., Elder, C. T., Groff, L. T., & Lee, J. C. (2019). Precision pharmacotherapy: Integrating pharmacogenomics into clinical pharmacy practice. *Journal of the American College of Clinical Pharmacy*, 2(3), 303-313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jac5.1118</u>
- Hicks, J. K., Dunnenberger, H. M., Gumpper, K. F., Haidar, C. E., & Hoffman, J. M.(2016). Integrating pharmacogenomics into electronic health records with clinical

decision support. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 73(23), 1967-1976. <u>https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160030</u>

Hicks, J. K., Stowe, D., Willner, M. A., Wai, M., Daly, T., Gordon, S. M., Lashner, B.
A., Parikh, S., White, R., Teng, K., Moss, T., Erwin, A., Chalmers, J., Eng, C., &
Knoer, S. (2016). Implementation of clinical pharmacogenomics within a large health system: From electronic health record decision support to consultation services. *Pharmacotherapy*, *36*(8), 940-948. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/phar.1786</u>

- Hinderer, M., Boeker, M., Wagner, S. A., Lablans, M., Newe, S., Hülsemann, J. L.,
 Neumaier, M., Binder, H., Renz, H., Acker, T., Prokosch, H.-U., & Sedlmayr, M.
 (2017). Integrating clinical decision support systems for pharmacogenomic testing into clinical routine a scoping review of designs of user-system interactions in recent system development. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, *17*, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-017-0480-y
- Hirschhorn, F. (2019). Reflections on the application of the Delphi method: Lessons from a case in public transport research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 22(3), 309-322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1543841</u>
- Hoffman, J. M., Dunnenberger, H. M., Kevin Hicks, J., Caudle, K. E., Whirl Carrillo, M., Freimuth, R. R., Williams, M. S., Klein, T. E., & Peterson, J. F. (2016).
 Developing knowledge resources to support precision medicine: Principles from the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC). *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 23(4), 796-801.

- Hong, Q. N., Pluye, P., Fàbregues, S., Bartlett, G., Boardman, F., Cargo, M., Dagenais,
 P., Gagnon, M.-P., Griffiths, F., Nicolau, B., O'Cathain, A., Rousseau, M.-C., &
 Vedel, I. (2019). Improving the content validity of the mixed methods appraisal
 tool: A modified e-Delphi study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *111*, 49-59.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.03.008
- Hsu, C.-C., & Sandford, B. A. (2007). The Delphi technique: Making sense of consensus. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 12*(10), 1-8.
- Huang, B. E., Mulyasasmita, W., & Rajagopal, G. (2016). The path from big data to precision medicine. *Expert Review of Precision Medicine and Drug Development*, 1(2), 129-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23808993.2016.1157686</u>
- Hulsen, T., Jamuar, S. S., Moody, A. R., Karnes, J. H., Varga, O., Hedensted, S., Spreafico, R., Hafler, D. A., & McKinney, E. F. (2019). From big data to precision medicine. *Frontiers in Medicine*, 6(34), 1-14.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2019.00034

- Intille, S. (2016). The precision medicine initiative and pervasive health research. *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, *15*(1), 88-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MPRV.2016.2</u>
- Jenkins, D. A., & Smith, T. E. (1994). Applying Delphi methodology in family therapy research. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 16(5), 411-430. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02197902

Kalaian, S., & Kasim, R. M. (2012). Terminating sequential Delphi survey data collection. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, 17, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.7275/g48q-je05 Kamble, S. S., Gunasekaran, A., Goswami, M., & Manda, J. (2019). A systematic perspective on the applications of big data analytics in healthcare management. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, *12*(3), 226-240. https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2018.1531606

Keeling, N. J., Rosenthal, M. M., West-Strum, D., Patel, A. S., Haidar, C. E., & Hoffman, J. M. (2019). Preemptive pharmacogenetic testing: Exploring the knowledge and perspectives of US payers. *Genetics in Medicine*, *21*(5), 1224-1232. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2017.181

- Keeney, S., Hasson, F., & McKenna, H. P. (2001). A critical review of the Delphi technique as a research methodology for nursing. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 38(2), 195-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7489(00)00044-4
- Kensler, T. W., Spira, A., Garber, J. E., Szabo, E., Lee, J. J., Dong, Z., Dannenberg, A. J., Hait, W. N., Blackburn, E., Davidson, N. E., Foti, M., & Lippman, S. M. (2016). Transforming cancer prevention through precision medicine and immune-oncology. *Cancer Prevention Research*, 9(1), 2-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.Capr-15-0406</u>
- Khoury, M. J. (2017). No shortcuts on the long road to evidence-based genomic medicine. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 318(1), 27-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.6315</u>
- Kim, C.-H., & Yeo, K. (2018). Beyond consensus: A review of Delphi research published in Malaysian social science journals. *International Journal of Business & Society*, 19(S2), 312-323.

- Klein, M. E., Parvez, M. M., & Shin, J.-G. (2017). Clinical implementation of pharmacogenomics for personalized precision medicine: Barriers and solutions. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *106*(9), 2368-2379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xphs.2017.04.051</u>
- Klenk, N. L., & Hickey, G. M. (2011). A virtual and anonymous, deliberative and analytic participation process for planning and evaluation: The concept mapping policy Delphi. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 27(1), 152-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijforecast.2010.05.002
- König, I. R., Fuchs, O., Hansen, G., von Mutius, E., & Kopp, M. V. (2017). What is precision medicine? *European Respiratory Journal*, 50(4), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.00391-2017</u>
- Krasi, G., Precone, V., Paolacci, S., Stuppia, L., Nodari, S., Romeo, F., Perrone, M.,
 Bushati, V., Dautaj, A., & Bertelli, M. (2019). Genetics and pharmacogenetics in the diagnosis and therapy of cardiovascular diseases. *Acta BioMedica*, 90(Suppl. 10), 7-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v90i10-S.8748</u>
- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research: The assessment of trustworthiness. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 45(3), 214-222. <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.45.3.214</u>
- Kruse, C. S., Goswamy, R., Raval, Y., & Marawi, S. (2016). Challenges and opportunities of big data in health care: A systematic review. *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 4(4), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/medinform.5359</u>

- Lau, E., & Wu, J. C. (2018). Omics, big data, and precision medicine in cardiovascular sciences. *Circulation Research*, 122(9), 1165-1168. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313161
- Lee, C. H., & Yoon, H. J. (2017). Medical big data: Promise and challenges. *Kidney Research and Clinical Practice*, 36(1), 3-11.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.23876/j.krcp.2017.36.1.3</u>
- Lee, J., Hamideh, D., & Nebeker, C. (2019). Qualifying and quantifying the precision medicine rhetoric. *BMC Genomics*, 20, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-6242-8</u>
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2009). A typology of mixed methods research designs. *Quality & Quantity*, 43(2), 265-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-007-9105-3</u>
- Levit, L. A., Kim, E. S., McAneny, B. L., Nadauld, L. D., Levit, K., Schenkel, C., & Schilsky, R. L. (2019). Implementing precision medicine in community-based oncology programs: Three models. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 15(6), 325-329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/jop.18.00661</u>
- Levy, K. D., Blake, K., Fletcher-Hoppe, C., Franciosi, J., Goto, D., Hicks, J. K., Holmes, A. M., Kanuri, S. H., Madden, E. B., Musty, M. D., Orlando, L., Pratt, V. M., Ramos, M., Wu, R., & Ginsburg, G. S. (2019). Opportunities to implement a sustainable genomic medicine program: Lessons learned from the IGNITE network. *Genetics in Medicine*, *21*(3), 743-747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-018-0080-y</u>

Leyenaar, J. K., Rizzo, P. A., Khodyakov, D., Leslie, L. K., Lindenauer, P. K., &

Mangione-Smith, R. (2018). Importance and feasibility of transitional care for children with medical complexity: Results of a multistakeholder Delphi process. *Academic Pediatrics*, *18*(1), 94-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2017.07.005

Lin, V. S., & Song, H. (2015). A review of Delphi forecasting research in tourism. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 18(12), 1099-1131. https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2014.967187

- Linstone, H. A., & Turoff, M. (Eds.). (2002). *The Delphi method: Techniques and applications*. New Jersey Institute of Technology.
- Lockett, A., O'Shea, R. P., & Wright, M. (2008). The development of the resource-based view: Reflections from Birger Wernerfelt 1. Organization Studies, 29(8-9), 1125-1141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840608094773</u>
- Ludwig, B. (1997). Predicting the future: Have you considered using the Delphi methodology? *Journal of Extension*, *35*(5), 1-3.
- Luzum, J. A., Pakyz, R. E., Elsey, A. R., Haidar, C. E., Peterson, J. F., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Handelman, S. K., Palmer, K., Pulley, J. M., Beller, M., Schildcrout, J. S., Field, J. R., Weitzel, K. W., Cooper-DeHoff, R. M., Cavallari, L. H., O'Donnell, P. H., Altman, R. B., Pereira, N., Ratain, M. J., . . . Freimuth, R. R. (2017). The Pharmacogenomics Research Network translational pharmacogenetics program: Outcomes and metrics of pharmacogenetic implementations across diverse healthcare systems. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, *102*(3), 502-510. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.630

Makadok, R. (2001). Toward a synthesis of the resource-based and dynamic-capability views of rent creation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 22(5), 387-401. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.158

Manzi, S. F., Fusaro, V. A., Chadwick, L., Brownstein, C., Clinton, C., Mandl, K. D.,
Wolf, W. A., & Hawkins, J. B. (2017). Creating a scalable clinical
pharmacogenomics service with automated interpretation and medical record
result integration - experience from a pediatric tertiary care facility. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24(1), 74-80.
https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocw052

- Mata, F. J., Fuerst, W. L., & Barney, J. B. (1995). Information technology and sustained competitive advantage: A resource-based analysis. *MIS Quarterly*, 19(4), 487-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/249630</u>
- McCoy, L. K. (2017). Longitudinal qualitative research and interpretative phenomenological analysis: Philosophical connections and practical considerations. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 14(4), 442-458. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2017.1340530
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, 30(7), 537-542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- Mehta, N., & Pandit, A. (2018). Concurrence of big data analytics and healthcare: A systematic review. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 114, 57-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.03.013</u>

Meijering, J. V., & Tobi, H. (2016). The effect of controlled opinion feedback on Delphi features: Mixed messages from a real-world Delphi experiment. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 103, 166-173.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.11.008

- Mikalef, P., Boura, M., Lekakos, G., & Krogstie, J. (2019). Big data analytics and firm performance: Findings from a mixed-method approach. *Journal of Business Research*, 98, 261-276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.01.044</u>
- Mikalef, P., Pappas, I. O., Krogstie, J., & Giannakos, M. (2018). Big data analytics capabilities: A systematic literature review and research agenda. *Information Systems and e-Business Management*, 16(3), 547-578.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10257-017-0362-y

- Miller, A., Moon, B., Anders, S., Walden, R., Brown, S., & Montella, D. (2015).
 Integrating computerized clinical decision support systems into clinical work: A meta-synthesis of qualitative research. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 84(12), 1009-1018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.09.005</u>
- Misnevs, B., & Jackiva, I. Y. (2016). Data science: Professional requirements and competence evaluation. *Baltic Journal of Modern Computing*, *4*(3), 441-453.
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212-1222.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501

Moscatelli, M., Manconi, A., Pessina, M., Fellegara, G., Rampoldi, S., Milanesi, L., Casasco, A., & Gnocchi, M. (2018). An infrastructure for precision medicine through analysis of big data. *BMC Bioinformatics*, *19*(Suppl. 10), 51-61. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-018-2300-5

- Mukerjee, G., Huston, A., Kabakchiev, B., Piquette-Miller, M., van Schaik, R., &
 Dorfman, R. (2018). User considerations in assessing pharmacogenomic tests and their clinical support tools. *npj Genomic Medicine*, *3*, 1-9.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41525-018-0065-4
- Nadauld, L. D., Ford, J. M., Pritchard, D., & Brown, T. (2018). Strategies for clinical implementation: Precision oncology at three distinct institutions. *Health Affairs*, 37(5), 751-756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1575</u>
- Nakatsu, R. T., & Iacovou, C. L. (2009). A comparative study of important risk factors involved in offshore and domestic outsourcing of software development projects:
 A two-panel Delphi study. *Information & Management*, 46, 57-68.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2008.11.005
- Niederman, F., Brancheau, J. C., & Wetherbe, J. C. (1991). Information systems management issues for the 1990s. *MIS Quarterly*, 15(4), 475-500. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/249452</u>

O'Donnell, P. H., Wadhwa, N., Danahey, K., Borden, B. A., Lee, S. M., Hall, J. P.,
Klammer, C., Hussain, S., Siegler, M., Sorrentino, M. J., Davis, A. M., Sacro, Y.
A., Nanda, R., Polonsky, T. S., Koyner, J. L., Burnet, D. L., Lipstreuer, K., Rubin,
D. T., Mulcahy, C., . . . Ratain, M. J. (2017). Pharmacogenomics-based point-ofcare clinical decision support significantly alters drug prescribing. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 102(5), 859-869. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.709 O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). 'Unsatisfactory saturation': A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13(2), 190-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112446106</u>

O'Rourke, P., Ekins, R., Timmins, B., Timmins, F., Long, S., & Coyle, E. (2014). Crucial design issues for special access technology; A Delphi study. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology*, 9(1), 48-59.
 https://doi.org/10.3109/17483107.2013.806599

- Ohno-Machado, L., Kim, J., Gabriel, R. A., Kuo, G. M., & Hogarth, M. A. (2018). Genomics and electronic health record systems. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 27(R1), R48-R55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddy104</u>
- Okoli, C., & Pawlowski, S. D. (2004). The Delphi method as a research tool: An example, design considerations and applications. *Information & Management*, 42(1), 15-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2003.11.002</u>

Paré, G., Cameron, A.-F., Poba-Nzaou, P., & Templier, M. (2013). A systematic assessment of rigor in information systems ranking-type Delphi studies. *Information & Management*, 50(5), 207-217.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2013.03.003

- Pasipoularides, A. (2018). Implementing genome-driven personalized cardiology in clinical practice. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, *115*, 142-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2018.01.008</u>
- Powell, C. (2003). The Delphi technique: Myths and realities. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 41(4), 376-382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02537.x</u>

- Pritchard, D. E., Moeckel, F., Villa, M. S., Housman, L. T., McCarty, C. A., & McLeod,
 H. L. (2017). Strategies for integrating personalized medicine into healthcare
 practice. *Personalized Medicine*, *14*(2), 141-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/pme-</u>2016-0064
- Prosperi, M., Min, J. S., Bian, J., & Modave, F. (2018). Big data hurdles in precision medicine and precision public health. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 18, 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-018-0719-2</u>
- Ranko, C., Graeme, S., & Sean, B. M. (2015). A business analytics capability framework. Australasian Journal of Information Systems, 19, S5-S19. https://doi.org/10.3127/ajis.v19i0.1150
- Raschka, S., Patterson, J., & Nolet, C. (2020). Machine learning in Python: Main developments and technology trends in data science, machine learning, and artificial intelligence. *Information*, 11(4), 1-44.

https://doi.org/10.3390/info11040193

- Rasmussen, L. V., Overby, C. L., Connolly, J., Chute, C. G., Denny, J. C., Freimuth, R. R., Hartzler, A. L., Holm, I. A., Manzi, S., & Pathak, J. (2016). Practical considerations for implementing genomic information resources. *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 7(3), 870-882. <u>https://doi.org/10.4338/ACI-2016-04-RA-0060</u>
- Rasmussen, L. V., Smith, M. E., Almaraz, F., Persell, S. D., Rasmussen-Torvik, L. J.,Pacheco, J. A., Chisholm, R. L., Christensen, C., Herr, T. M., Wehbe, F. H., &Starren, J. B. (2019). An ancillary genomics system to support the return of

pharmacogenomic results. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 26(4), 306-310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocy187</u>

- Raveenthiran, V., & Sarin, Y. K. (2015). When there is confusion and conflicts ask Delphi! *Journal of Neonatal Surgery*, *4*(3), 1-6.
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Sage Publications.
- Rikkonen, P., & Tapio, P. (2009). Future prospects of alternative agro-based bioenergy use in Finland—Constructing scenarios with quantitative and qualitative Delphi data. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 76(7), 978-990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2008.12.001
- Ronquillo, J. G., Weng, C., & Lester, W. T. (2017). Assessing the readiness of precision medicine interoperabilty: An exploratory study of the National Institutes of Health genetic testing registry. *Journal of Innovation in Health Informatics*, 24(4), 323-328. https://doi.org/10.14236/jhi.v24i4.918
- Rosenman, M. B., Decker, B., Levy, K. D., Holmes, A. M., Pratt, V. M., & Eadon, M. T. (2017). Lessons learned when introducing pharmacogenomic panel testing into clinical practice. *Value in Health*, 20(1), 54-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2016.08.727
- Rowe, G., & Wright, G. (2011). The Delphi technique: Past, present, and future prospects
 introduction to the special issue. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 78(9), 1487-1490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2011.09.002

- Rumsfeld, J. S., Joynt, K. E., & Maddox, T. M. (2016). Big data analytics to improve cardiovascular care: Promise and challenges. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, *13*(6), 350-359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2016.42</u>
- Sheinis, M., & Selk, A. (2018). Development of the adult vulvar lichen sclerosus severity scale - A Delphi consensus exercise for item generation. *Journal of Lower Genital Tract Disease*, 22(1), 66-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/lgt.00000000000361</u>
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/efi-2004-22201</u>
- Sitapati, A., Kim, H., Berkovich, B., Marmor, R., Singh, S., El-Kareh, R., Clay, B., &
 Ohno-Machado, L. (2017). Integrated precision medicine: The role of electronic health records in delivering personalized treatment. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Systems Biology and Medicine*, 9(3), 1-18.

https://doi.org/10.1002/wsbm.1378

- Skinner, E. H., Thomas, P., Reeve, J. C., & Patman, S. (2016). Minimum standards of clinical practice for physiotherapists working in critical care settings in Australia and New Zealand: A modified Delphi technique. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*, 32(6), 468-482. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/09593985.2016.1145311</u>
- Skulmoski, G. J., Hartman, F. T., & Krahn, J. (2007). The Delphi method for graduate research. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 6, 1-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/199</u>

- Smolij, K., & Dun, K. (2006). Patient health information management: Searching for the right model. *Perspectives in Health Information Management*, 3, 1-11.
- Soobiah, C., Manley, G., Marr, S., Moore, A., PausJenssen, E., Teare, S., Hamid, J.,
 Tricco, A. C., & Straus, S. (2019). A modified Delphi and cross-sectional survey to facilitate selection of optimal outcomes and measures for a systematic review on geriatrician-led care models. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *109*, 117-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.02.005
- Sperber, N. R., Carpenter, J. S., Cavallari, L. H., Damschroder, L. J., Cooper-DeHoff, R.
 M., Denny, J. C., Ginsburg, G. S., Guan, Y., Horowitz, C. R., Levy, K. D., Levy,
 M. A., Madden, E. B., Matheny, M. E., Pollin, T. I., Pratt, V. M., Rosenman, M.,
 Voils, C. I., Weitzel, K. W., Wilke, R. A., . . . Orlando, L. A. (2017). Challenges
 and strategies for implementing genomic services in diverse settings: Experiences
 from the Implementing Genomics in Practice (IGNITE) Network. *BMC Medical Genomics*, *10*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-017-0273-2
- Starkweather, A. R., Coleman, B., Barcelona de Mendoza, V., Hickey, K. T., Menzies,
 V., Fu, M. R., Williams, J. K., Prows, C., Wocial, L., O'Keefe, M., McCormick,
 K., Keenan, G., & Harper, E. (2018). Strengthen federal and local policies to
 advance precision health implementation and nurses' impact on healthcare quality
 and safety. *Nursing Outlook*, 66(4), 401-406.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2018.06.001

- Strear, M., Forbes, L., & Henninger, J. (2018). Procedures, pitfalls, and product: Delphi methodology in counseling research. *Counseling Outcome Research and Evaluation*, 9(1), 55-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21501378.2017.1403847</u>
- Sun, H., Breakey, V. R., Straatman, L., Wu, J. K., & Jackson, S. (2019). Outcomes indicators and processes in transitional care in adolescents with haemophilia: A Delphi survey of Canadian haemophilia care providers. *Haemophilia*, 25(2), 296-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hae.13699</u>
- Swaminathan, R., Huang, Y., Moosavinasab, S., Buckley, R., Bartlett, C. W., & Lin, S.
 M. (2016). A review on genomics APIs. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 14, 8-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2015.10.004</u>
- Tebani, A., Afonso, C., Marret, S., & Bekri, S. (2016). Omics-based strategies in precision medicine: Toward a paradigm shift in inborn errors of metabolism investigations. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(9), 1-27. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17091555

Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 16(2), 151-155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x</u>

Tobin, G. A., & Begley, C. M. (2004). Methodological rigour within a qualitative framework. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *48*(4), 388-396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03207.x</u>

Toronto, C. (2017). Considerations when conducting e-Delphi research: A case study. *Nurse Researcher*, 25(1), 10-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2017.e1498</u>

- Toth, F. (2016). Classification of healthcare systems: Can we go further? *Health Policy*, *120*(5), 535-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2016.03.011</u>
- Vegter, M. W. (2018). Towards precision medicine; a new biomedical cosmology. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy*, 21(4), 443-456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-018-9828-z
- Vidgen, R., Shaw, S., & Grant, D. B. (2017). Management challenges in creating value from business analytics. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 261(2), 626-639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2017.02.023
- Vogl, S., Zartler, U., Schmidt, E.-M., & Rieder, I. (2018). Developing an analytical framework for multiple perspective, qualitative longitudinal interviews (MPQLI). *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *21*(2), 177-190. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1345149
- Wade, M., & Hulland, J. (2004). Review: The resource-based view and information systems research: Review, extension, and suggestions for future research. *MIS Quarterly*, 28(1), 107-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/25148626</u>
- Walko, C., Kiel, P. J., & Kolesar, J. (2016). Precision medicine in oncology: New practice models and roles for oncology pharmacists. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 73(23), 1935-1942. <u>https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160211</u>

Wamba, S. F., Gunasekaran, A., Akter, S., Ren, S. J.-f., Dubey, R., & Childe, S. J.(2017). Big data analytics and firm performance: Effects of dynamic capabilities.*Journal of Business Research*, 70, 356-365.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.08.009

Wang, Y., & Hajli, N. (2017). Exploring the path to big data analytics success in healthcare. *Journal of Business Research*, 70, 287-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.08.002

Wang, Y., Kung, L., & Byrd, T. A. (2018). Big data analytics: Understanding its capabilities and potential benefits for healthcare organizations. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *126*, 3-13.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.12.019

- Wang, Y., Kung, L., Wang, W. Y. C., & Cegielski, C. G. (2018). An integrated big data analytics-enabled transformation model: Application to health care. *Information & Management*, 55(1), 64-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2017.04.001</u>
- Ward, L., Stebbings, S., Sherman, K. J., Cherkin, D., & Baxter, G. D. (2014).
 Establishing key components of yoga interventions for musculoskeletal conditions: A Delphi survey. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *14*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-14-196
- Warner, J. L., Jain, S. K., & Levy, M. A. (2016). Integrating cancer genomic data into electronic health records. *Genome Medicine*, 8, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0371-3

Warner, J. L., Rioth, M. J., Mandl, K. D., Mandel, J. C., Kreda, D. A., Kohane, I. S., Carbone, D., Oreto, R., Wang, L., Zhu, S., Yao, H., & Alterovitz, G. (2016).
SMART precision cancer medicine: A FHIR-based app to provide genomic information at the point of care. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 23(4), 701-710. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocw015

- Weinshilboum, R. M., & Wang, L. (2017). Pharmacogenomics: Precision medicine and drug response. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 92(11), 1711-1722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2017.09.001
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic Management Journal*, 5(2), 171-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250050207</u>
- Wester, K. L., & Borders, L. D. (2014). Research competencies in counseling: A Delphi study. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 92(4), 447-458. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2014.00171.x
- Wiener, B., Chacko, S., Brown, T. R., Cron, S. G., & Cohen, M. Z. (2009). Delphi survey of research priorities. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 17(5), 532-538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2008.00871.x</u>
- Wilkes, L., Doull, M., Paterson, J., Le Cornu, K., & Chok, H. N. (2016). The role of the general practice liaison nurse as integrated care coordinator: A Delphi study.
 Clinical Nursing Studies, 4(3), 67-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430%2Fcns.v4n3p67</u>
- Williams, C. (2007). Research methods. Journal of Business & Economics Research, 5(3), 65-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.19030/jber.v5i3.2532</u>
- Wilson, A., Averis, A., & Walsh, K. (2003). The influences on and experiences of becoming nurse entrepreneurs: A Delphi study. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 9(4), 236-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-172X.2003.00426.x</u>
- Woods, M., Macklin, R., & Lewis, G. K. (2016). Researcher reflexivity: Exploring the impacts of CAQDAS use. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 19(4), 385-403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1023964</u>

- Wu, P., Cheng, C., Kaddi, C. D., Venugopalan, J., Hoffman, R., & Wang, M. D. (2017). Omic and electronic health record big data analytics for precision medicine. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 64(2), 263-273.
 https://doi.org/10.1109/TBME.2016.2573285
- Xiao, Y., & Watson, M. (2019). Guidance on conducting a systematic literature review. Journal of Planning Education and Research, 39(1), 93-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X17723971</u>
- Xu, X., Hu, J., Lyu, X., Huang, H., & Cheng, X. (2021). Exploring the interdisciplinary nature of precision medicine: Network analysis and visualization. *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 9(1), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/23562</u>
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48(2), 311-325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12014</u>

Appendix A: Study Invitation

Email subject: IT Resources for Precision Medicine

Email message:

Hello,

You are invited to participate in a research study I am conducting as a PhD candidate. The intent is to use the knowledge of experts to form a list of important and feasible IT resources to enable precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations. The study results could lead to new products from commercial vendors, enhanced curricula at universities, and improved processes in healthcare delivery organizations.

The study involves creating a list of key IT resources and forming consensus of the resources considered to be important and feasible. This will be accomplished using a succession of 3 relatively brief online questionnaires. Participant identity will be kept confidential. A monetary gift up to 30 U.S. dollars will be provided.

You are receiving this invitation to participate because you may have knowledge related to the research topic. To be eligible for the study, an individual must: (a) be at least 18 years old, (b) be able to write fluently in English, (c) not have a personal or professional relationship with the researcher, (d) have a minimum of 3 years of professional experience dealing with IT for precision medicine in healthcare delivery, and (e) be able to describe cases illustrating good versus poor decisions regarding IT resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations.

If you are interested in participating, please let me know by emailing me at the address shown below. More information about the study will be provided to those that express an interest. In addition, if you know someone believed to meet the eligibility criteria, please send me their email address.

Thanks in advance,

Nick

Nicholas Bertram, PhD candidate

[note: The email address has been redacted]

Appendix B: Eligibility Questionnaire

Eligibility Questionnaire

Please respond to all questions. Click the submit button at the bottom when you are finished.

1) Are you at least 18 years old?

◯ Yes ◯ No

2) In which country do you primarily reside?



3) Can you write fluently in English?

◯ Yes

4) What is the highest degree you have earned?

🔿 No

- O High School
- Associate's
- O Bachelor's
- O Master's
- Doctorate

5) What is your primary work setting?

- Academia
- ◯ Industry
- Government
| ◯ Executive |
|---|
| |
| O Manager |
| O Professor |
| Researcher |
| ◯ Engineer |
| ◯ Analyst |
| Other (specify below) |
| |
| 7) Do you have a personal or professional relationship with the researcher? |
| ○ Yes ○ No |
| 8) How many years of professional experience do you have dealing with information |

8) How many years of professional experience do you have dealing with information technology for precision medicine in healthcare delivery?

0	100
\bigcirc	

9) Can you describe cases illustrating good versus poor decisions regarding information technology resources for precision medicine in healthcare delivery organizations?

Yes	◯ No		
			100%
		Submit	

Appendix C: Round 1 Questionnaire

Round 1 Questionnaire

Please provide 3 to 5 brief responses to each question. Click the submit button at the bottom when you are finished.

IT capabilities:

In your opinion, what specialized information technology capabilities are key for healthcare delivery organizations to possess to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come?

IT capability 1:

IT capability 2:

IT capability 3:

IT capability 4:

IT capability 5:

IT resources:

In your opinion, what specialized information technology resources are key for healthcare delivery organizations to possess to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come?

IT resource 1:	
IT resource 2:	
IT resource 3:	
IT resource 4:	
IT resource 5:	



Appendix D: The Beginning Portion of Each Section in the Round 2 Questionnaire

IT Capabilities and Resources Collected During Round 1

Please rate the importance and feasibility of each IT capability and resource in regard to healthcare delivery organizations possessing the IT capability or resource to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come.

When you are done, click the next button at the bottom to continue.

1) A common data model for patient data that enables rapid prototyping (e.g., OHDSI OMOP CDM)

- O Very Unimportant
- Unimportant
- Neutral
- Important
- O Very Important
- O Definitely Infeasible
- O Probably Infeasible
- O May or May Not be Feasible
- O Probably Feasible
- O Definitely Feasible

Additional IT Capabilities and Resources

The last two questions are optional and allow for brief responses. You have the opportunity to provide additional IT capabilities and resources. Click the submit button at the bottom when you are finished.

Additional IT capabilities:

In your opinion, what specialized information technology capabilities are key for healthcare delivery organizations to possess to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come?

Additional IT capability 1:

Additional IT capability 2:

Additional IT capability 3:

Additional IT resources:

In your opinion, what specialized information technology resources are key for healthcare delivery organizations to possess to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come?

Additional IT resource 1:

Additional IT resource 2:

Additional IT resource 3:

Appendix E: The Beginning Portion of Each Section in the Round 3 Questionnaire

IT Capabilities and Resources That Were Rated in Round 2, but Did Not Reach the Predetermined Consensus Threshold for Importance, Feasibility, or Both

Please rate the importance and feasibility of each IT capability and resource in regard to healthcare delivery organizations possessing the IT capability or resource to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come.

When you are done, click the next button at the bottom to continue.

1) Ability to capture genetic variants and their meaning in genomic sequence

- O Very Unimportant
- ◯ Unimportant
- O Neutral
- Important
- Very Important
- O Definitely Infeasible
- O Probably Infeasible
- O May or May Not be Feasible
- O Probably Feasible
- O Definitely Feasible

Additional IT Capabilities and Resources That Were Collected During Round 2

Please rate the importance and feasibility of each IT capability and resource in regard to healthcare delivery organizations possessing the IT capability or resource to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come.

Click the submit button at the bottom when you are finished.

56) 3D printing

- \bigcirc Very Unimportant
- Unimportant
- Neutral
- Important
- Very Important
- O Definitely Infeasible
- O Probably Infeasible
- O May or May Not be Feasible
- O Probably Feasible
- O Definitely Feasible

Appendix F: Round 1 Results That Were Sent to Participants

Round 1 Results

The Round 1 questionnaire asked for specialized information technology capabilities and resources that are key for healthcare delivery organizations to possess to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come. The table below contains the results in alphabetical order.

Round 1 Results 1) A common data model for patient data that enables rapid prototyping (e.g., OHDSI OMOP CDM) 2) Ability to capture and represent patient-entered data and device output and integrate with transactional medical data 3) Ability to capture genetic variants and their meaning in genomic sequence 4) Ability to capture granular phenotypes using EHR data (i.e., deep phenotyping) 5) Ability to deliver results in understandable and tangible format to patients 6) Ability to develop artificial intelligence and machine learning models using genomic, social determinant, and EHR data 7) Ability to enable pragmatic clinical trials that seamlessly integrate with the standard course of care 8) Ability to evaluate the effectiveness of artificial intelligence and machine learning models that use genomic, social determinant, and EHR data 9) Ability to execute and maintain artificial intelligence and machine learning models and integrate them into clinicians' workflows seamlessly 10) Ability to integrate external clinical decision support with the EHR

11) Ability to map over time as terminologies, such as ICD, change

12) Ability to rapidly adopt new and evolving standards (e.g., FHIR and genomic implementation guides)

13) Ability to record and catalogue raw unstructured patient data (e.g., notes, images, etc.)

14) Ability to represent key precision medicine data elements (e.g., gene names, genomic variants, and phenotypes) as structured data in the EHR

15) Access to educational content about precision medicine for patients and providers

16) Access to electronic medical records and clinical genomics research data

17) Access to a global database and a database that is relevant to the local population

18) Adaptable and expandable data architecture

19) Additional processing capacity for huge databases holding precision medicine data

20) Additional programming personnel to support building advanced clinical decision support

21) Advanced clinical decision support capabilities

22) Agile management

23) Agnostic cloud technology and a vendor neutral archive

24) An integrated data environment that can support medical care, financial transactions, quality improvement, and research

25) Analysis provenance and traceability of results

26) Analytic dashboards

27) Application development, testing, deployment, maintenance, and support

28) Application programming interface (API) management and integration

29) Application programming interface (API) with labs that offer genetic or precision testing

30) Artificial intelligence and machine learning to detect the severity of diseases using computed tomography (CT) images

31) Artificial intelligence chips (also called artificial intelligence hardware or artificial intelligence accelerators)

32) Artificial intelligence in drug discovery using simple molecular docking and virtual screening approaches

33) Artificial intelligence in next generation sequencing technologies

34) Artificial intelligence in solving protein structures and understanding their role in different pathway mechanisms

35) Artificial intelligence platforms

36) Automated event detection and reporting systems for drug reaction, medication dispensing, etc.

37) Big data analysis

38) Big data analytics framework for aggregating, cleaning, and organizing data for meaningful analysis

39) Big data platform - large scale analytics support incorporating whole-view data for a patient (e.g., clinical, biometric, sequencing, population health, etc.)

40) Bioinformatics

41) Biomedical information retrieval (IR) systems

42) Blockchain specialist

43) Blockchain technology

44) Chatbots or other tools that streamline patient outreach by not requiring a clinician

45) Clinical bioinformatics in which clinical and bioinformatic aspects can be used with artificial intelligence and machine learning

46) Clinical decision support customizability

47) Clinical decision support knowledge

48) Clinical informaticists

49) Clinical informatics

50) Clinical informatics team composed of physician informaticists, molecular medicine subspecialists, and geneticists

51) Clinical staff knowledgeable in physician workflow, pathology, and molecular testing

52) Clinical trials infrastructure built in

53) Cloud computing

54) Cloud services specialist

55) CMIO, CHIO, or CCIO - to enable clinical application of new knowledge from analytics

56) Computational biology

57) Computer vision

58) Connectors for external data systems using standards (e.g., HL7-FHIR)

59) Conversational artificial intelligence

60) Curated data

61) Data architects

62) Data capture for patients in different populations to avoid bias based on location, sex, social determinants of health, or chronic conditions

- 63) Data engineer
- 64) Data engineering
- 65) Data governance and stewardship

66) Data harmonization and normalization to ensure data is accurately ingested and used

67) Data integration strategy

68) Data lakes that can be federated

69) Data modeling

70) Data quality

71) Data science

72) Data scientists

73) Data security officer - ensures integrity of data sources

74) Data security software - not just ransomware protection but true data provenance and protections against data tampering

75) Data visualization

76) Development, maturity, and uptake of standards for data exchange (including sequencing, genomics, proteomics, results, etc.)

77) Digital front door framework - strong digital connectivity with patients when not in a facility or clinic

78) Drools and CQL developers

79) Edge computing that allows local processing of medical data (e.g., smart watch)

80) Enhanced ability to capture and use patient provided information to incorporate patient preferences into treatment plan and capture patient reported outcomes

81) Evidence based medicine clinical pathway tools

82) Expertise in conversational artificial intelligence

83) Expertise in machine learning

84) Fast healthcare interoperability resources (FHIR) expertise

85) Federated data analytics

86) Genomic storage and processing system (i.e., genomics ancillary system)

87) High performance computing (HPC) environment, such as graphics processing unit (GPU) clusters or supercomputers, to process protected health information

88) Integrated knowledge resources that support informed decision making

89) Integration and extension of context in data standards

90) Integration of EHR, genomic, and pharmacologic platforms

91) IT infrastructure connected to a data warehouse for health services research and economic estimates for the impact of personalized medicine (e.g., emergency department admissions and expenses related to adverse drug events before and after the introduction of a pharmacogenetic program to screen all adults for FDA related drug-gene interactions)

92) IT infrastructure to capture real time events (e.g., emergency department admissions related to adverse drug events)

93) Knowledge graphs

94) Mobile device data and metadata

95) Multimodal clinical data repository

96) Native interoperability and application programming interface (API) connectivity between EHR, electronic case report form (eCRF), and biobank databases

97) Natural language processing

98) Next generation DNA sequencing technology

99) Ontologies for data to make disparate data accessible

100) Pathway software to enable the understanding of mechanisms (e.g., Elsevier Pathway Studio)

101) Platform integration across devices

102) Remote patient monitoring technology

103) Semantic modeling

104) Software developer subject matter experts to develop integrated tools that maximize the use of data

105) Statistical thinking

106) Storage solutions for large data sets

107) Support for clinical terminology standards (e.g., ICD, SNOMED-CT, LOINC, and RxNorm)

- 108) Systems integration specialist
- 109) Temporal reasoning
- 110) Terminologists
- 111) Trained bioinformatics professionals
- 112) Translational informatics
- 113) Virtual patient portal for information exchange and real time documentation
- 114) Well-annotated database for variant classification

Appendix G: Round 2 Results That Were Sent to Participants

Round 2 Results That Are Relevant to the Round 3 Questionnaire

A portion of the Round 2 questionnaire asked for importance and feasibility ratings of IT capabilities and resources in regard to healthcare delivery organizations possessing the IT capability or resource to enable precision medicine now and in the years to come. The importance ratings for each IT capability and resource were analyzed to determine the importance result according to the rules in the following table.

Potential Importance Result	Result Rule
Important	Result occurs when at least 75% of the ratings fall within the rating categories of Important or Very Important
Not Important	Result occurs when at least 75% of the ratings fall within the rating categories of Unimportant or Very Unimportant
Undetermined Importance	Result occurs when the rules to be considered Important or Not Important are not met

Similarly, the feasibility ratings for each IT capability and resource were analyzed to determine the feasibility result according to the rules in the following table.

Potential Feasibility Result	Result Rule
Feasible	Result occurs when at least 75% of the ratings fall within the rating categories of Probably Feasible or Definitely feasible
Not Feasible	Result occurs when at least 75% of the ratings fall within the rating categories of Probably Infeasible or Definitely Infeasible
Undetermined Feasibility	Result occurs when the rules to be considered Feasible or Not Feasible are not met

59 of the 114 IT capabilities and resources that were rated in Round 2 are considered to be important and feasible. The assessment is complete for the 59 important and feasible IT capabilities and resources. The overall study summary that will be provided after Round 3 will list the 59 IT capabilities and resources.

The other 55 IT capabilities and resources that were rated in Round 2 are considered to have undetermined importance, undetermined feasibility, or both. In accordance with traditional Delphi research methods, participants will be asked to rerate the 55 IT capabilities and resources in Round 3 in an attempt to determine the importance and feasibility according to the result rules shown above. The Round 2 rating results for each of the 55 IT capabilities and resources are provided below in alphabetical order so that participants can consider the group's position relative to their own during Round 3.

The Round 2 questionnaire also allowed people to enter additional IT capabilities and resources if they desired. The results of the additional IT capabilities and resources are listed in alphabetical order at the end of this document. Participants will be asked to rate the importance and feasibility of the additional IT capabilities and resources during Round 3.







IT Capabilities and Resources That Were Rated in Round 2, but Are Considered To Have Undetermined Importance, Undetermined Feasibility, or Both

4) Ability to enable pragmatic clinical trials that seamlessly integrate with the standard course of care





IT Capabilities and Resources That Were Rated in Round 2, but Are Considered To Have












































































IT Capabilities and Resources That Were Rated in Round 2, but Are Considered To Have Undetermined Importance, Undetermined Feasibility, or Both

44) IT infrastructure connected to a data warehouse for health services research and economic estimates for the impact of personalized medicine (e.g., emergency department admissions and expenses related to adverse drug events before and after the introduction of a pharmacogenetic program to screen all adults for FDA related drug-gene interactions)

















51) Pathway software to enable the understanding of mechanisms (e.g., Elsevier Pathway Studio)











Additional IT Capabilities and Resources That Were Collected During Round 2

1) 3D printing

2) Application programming interface (API) development by EHR vendors

3) Clinical decision support architect

4) Collaborative teams that include experienced physicians working with engineers and data scientists

5) Computer vision expertise

6) Contract specialist among providers, researchers, vendors, and the government

7) Data standardization experts

8) Development of quantum computing solutions

9) Fast healthcare interoperability resources (FHIR)

10) Fast healthcare interoperability resources (FHIR) clinical decision support tool

11) Fast healthcare interoperability resources (FHIR) genomics standards for discrete results, data alignment, and storage

12) Genomic nomenclature converting tools across multiple IT platforms

13) Genomics laboratory information system that stores sequencing data and can translate results into an understandable narrative for the provider

14) Healthcare virtual and augmented reality

15) Human factor engineering - taking clinician and patient personas into account

16) Increased number of full-time equivalents (FTEs)

17) Interoperability across different platforms (e.g., EHR, genomic data, etc.)

18) Interoperability experts

19) Knowledge about deep learning

20) Knowledge about EHR integration options that minimize alert fatigue and provide precision recommendations

21) Knowledge management with clinical and IT personnel

22) Machine learning capability

Additional IT Capabilities and Resources That Were Collected During Round 2

23) More sustainable genomic nomenclature (e.g., Human Genome Variation Society nomenclature)

24) Nanotechnology

25) No code and low code machine learning solutions

26) Open source commercial software

27) Patient data and educational resources outside the EHR

28) Pilot testing capabilities

29) Pilot testing environment

30) Predictive analysis

31) Preparation for clinical decision support that scales to thousands of rules

32) Preparation for precision medication that leverages molecular (e.g., DNA) findings

33) Program manager for precision medicine initiative execution

34) Real world data literacy

35) Scientific publication access

36) Software engineering

37) Someone that has knowledge of both clinical informatics and bioinformatics

38) Someone with expertise to create precision clinical decision support

39) Substitutable medical apps and reusable technology (SMART) on fast healthcare interoperability resources (FHIR)

40) Supercomputer management

41) Task force to implement new technologies

42) The necessary subject matter experts across a variety of disciplines (e.g., integration, genomics, data science, data architecture, etc.)

43) Translational knowledge engineering

44) Transnational knowledge base (e.g., CPIC guideline)

45) Use case design